Electron and Proton Transfer in NADH:Ubiquinone Oxidoreductase (Complex I) from *Escherichia coli*

Liliya Euro (née Sinegina)

Institute of Biotechnology and Division of Biochemistry Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences and Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology

University of Helsinki

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Biosciences of the University of Helsinki for public examination in the auditorium 2041 of Biocenter 2, Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki, on May 15th 2009, at 12 noon

HELSINKI 2009

Supervisors:	Prof. Mårten Wikström Helsinki Bioenergetics Group Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Finland					
Douisman	Dr. Marina Verkhovskaya Helsinki Bioenergetics Group Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Finland					
Keviewers:	Prof. Ilmo Hassinen Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Faculty of Medicine University of Oulu Finland					
	Dr. Moshe Finel Drug Discovery and Development Technology Center Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki Finland					
Opponent:	Prof. Dr. Ulrich Brandt Molecular Bioenergetics Group Cluster of Excellence Frankfurt "Macromolecular complexes" Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt am Main Germany					
Custos:	Prof. Carl G. Gahmberg Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Division of Biochemistry University of Helsinki Finland					
Cover art: The	e figure represents the overall structure of Complex I, the electron transfer					

Cover art: The figure represents the overall structure of Complex I, the electron transfer pathway within the protein and the scheme of proposed mechanism explaining proton pumping by this energy transducing enzyme.

ISBN 978-952-10-5431-0 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-5432-7 (PDF, http://ethesis.helsinki.fi) ISSN 1795-7079 Yliopistopaino, Helsinki University Printing House Helsinki, 2009

To my family

The number of different hypotheses erected to explain a given biological phenomenon is inversely proportional to the available knowledge.

Eddington's Theory

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIS	ST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
AC	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9
AB	BREVIATIONS AND NOMENCLATURE	11
		10
1.	INTRODUCTION	12
1.	1. The respiratory chain of eukaryotes	13
1.	2. The respiratory chain of prokaryotes	15
2.	THE STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF COMPLEX I	18
2.	1. The overall structure of Complex I	18
	2.1.1. The hydrophilic domain	21
	2.1.2. The hydrophobic domain	24
2.	2. Redox groups	26
	2.2.1. Flavill	20 27
2.	 Semiguinones	
2.	4. ROS production by Complex I	30
2.	5. Proton translocation stoichiometry	31
2.	6. Proposed mechanism of proton pumping	33
3.	AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY	35
4.	METHODOLOGY	36
	1 Isolation of Complex I	36
4.	 Measurements of the enzymatic activity	
4.	3. Monitoring of proton pumping	38
4.	4. EPR spectroscopy	39
4.	5. Optical spectroscopy	40
4.	6. Homology modeling of Complex I from <i>E. coli</i>	40
5.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	42
5.	1. Purification of Complex I	42
5.	2. Recovery of the native activity of purified Complex I	42
	5.2.1. Activation of purified Complex I by detergent and phospholipids	
_	5.2.2. Changes in EPR signals of Fe-S clusters	44
5.	3. Electron transfer kinetics in Complex I	
5.	5 The role of the conserved amino acid residues in the NADH- and	.14/
5.	auinone-binding sites	50
	5.5.1. The role of Glu95 in the process of substrate binding	50
	5.5.2. The role of conserved Arg274 and His224, His228 from the NuoCD s	subunit
	in the final step of electron transfer	52
5.	6. Proposed mechanism of proton pumping by Complex I	54
6.	SUMMARY	61

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-VI):

I Sinegina L., Wikström M., Verkhovsky M.I., and Verkhovskaya M.L. (2005) Activation of isolated NADH:ubiquinone reductase I (complex I) from *Escherichia coli* by detergent and phospholipids. Recovery of ubiquinone reductase activity and changes in EPR signals of iron-sulfur clusters, *Biochemistry* 44, 8500-6.

II Belevich G., **Euro L**., Wikström M., and Verkhovskaya M. (2007) Role of the conserved arginine 274 and histidine 224 and 228 residues in the NuoCD subunit of complex I from *Escherichia coli*, *Biochemistry* 46, 526-33.

III Euro L., Bloch D.A., Wikström M., Verkhovsky M.I., Verkhovskaya M. (2008) Electrostatic interactions between FeS clusters in NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (Complex I) from *Escherichia coli*, *Biochemistry* 47, 3185-93.

IV Verkhovskaya M.L., Belevich N., Euro L., Wikström M., Verkhovsky M.I.
 (2008) Real-time electron transfer in respiratory complex I, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci U. S.* A 105, 3763-7.

V Euro L., Belevich G., Verkhovsky M.I., Wikström M., Verkhovskaya M. (2008) Conserved lysine residues of the membrane subunit NuoM are involved in energy conversion by the proton-pumping NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (Complex I), *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1777*, 1166-72. **VI Euro L**., Belevich G., Verkhovsky M.I., Wikström M., and Verkhovskaya M. (2009) The role of the invariant glutamate in the catalytic site of Complex I from *Escherichia coli*, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1787, 68-73.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was carried out in the Helsinki Bioenergetics Group at the Institute of Biotechnology, and the Division of Biochemistry at the Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki. The work was financially supported by the Academy of Finland, the University of Helsinki, Biocentrum Helsinki, the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology, and the Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation.

First of all, I would like to thank my academic supervisors Prof. Mårten Wikström and Dr. Marina Verkhovskaya for giving me interesting projects, for constant support and guidance throughout the research. Your advice, experience and expertise were the key factors in realizing this work.

I wish to express my gratitude to all present and former members of the Helsinki Bioenergetics Group. I have been very lucky to work with skilful colleagues who have had a great impact on my project and my development as a researcher. All of you have contributed to this study. In particular, I wish to sincerely thank Dr. Michael Verkhovsky for his kind and detailed explanations of principles of energy transduction in the respiratory enzymes. I would like to thank my office companions Ilya Belevich, Ville Kaila, Mika Molin and Galina Belevich with whom I always feel free to discuss different scientific matters. I am very thankful for our molecular biologist Galina Belevich for her great effort to produce Complex I mutants that helped to understand the mechanism of this enzyme in more detail. I would like to thank Dmitry Bloch for his practical and theoretical teaching of how to set up and conduct electrochemical redox titration experiments and to treat data using MatLab software. My special thanks go to Nikolay Belevich for his creative ideas, constant technical support concerning instruments and software and finally for construction of state-of-art instruments that have unique properties. I address my special gratitude to Virve Rauhamäki and Anne Tuukkanen for support, interest in my project and truly scientific discussions. My warmest thanks go to our present and former technicians Eija Haasanen and Anne Hakonen. This work could not have been done without your invaluable and excellent work. I wish to express my special gratitude to our former secretary Satu Sankkila who is always open for discussions, ready to help and gives very valuable and practical advice. Satu was the person who took good care of all practical issues during the initial phase of my stay in Finland.

I would like to thank the reviewers, Prof. Ilmo Hassinen and Dr. Moshe Finel for critical reading of the thesis, for constructive comments and suggestions.

I would also like to express deep gratitude to our external collaborator Dr. Alexander V. Bogachev from the Moscow State University for very valuable, educative discussions.

I thank Helsinki University and Helsinki Graduate School in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology for organizing very useful practical and lecture courses.

I warmly thank my friends Zhanna Rogashko, Elena Tukhovskaya, Valeria Churumova who have always been very open and kind to me during all these years and provided human and scientific support in difficult situations.

I dedicate my thesis to my dearest parents, Leonid K. and Natalia I., and my beloved husband Teppana, because after all without them I would have never survived this rough road.

Helsinki, April 2009

Liliya Euro

ABBREVIATIONS AND NOMENCLATURE

ADP-ribose	adenosine 5'-diphosphoribose sodium salt
DDM	n-dodecyl β-D-maltopyranoside
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
dNADH	nicotinamide hypoxanthine dinucleotide reduced sodium salt
DQ	decylubiquinone
$\Delta \psi$	electric membrane potential
$\Delta \mu_{H^+}$	electrochemical proton gradient across the membrane
EPR	electron paramagnetic resonance
FAD	flavin adenine dinucleotide
FeCy	ferricyanide
FMN	flavin mononucleotide
HAR	hexaammineruthenium (III) chloride
HEPES	4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-1-ethanesulfonic acid
IC_{50}	half maximal inhibitory concentration
K _m	Michaelis-Menten constant
LB	Luria-Bertani broth
MES	2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid
NAD	β -nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide sodium salt from yeast
NADH	β-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced disodium salt
NDH-I	<u>N</u> ADH <u>deh</u> ydrogenase Type-I (proton-pumping NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase)
NDH-II	<u>N</u> ADH <u>deh</u> ydrogenase Type-II (non-proton-pumping NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase)
N-side	negatively charged side of the (inner mitochondrial or bacterial) membrane
P-side	positively charged side of the (inner mitochondrial or bacterial) membrane
<i>pK</i> _a	a logarithmic measure of the acid dissociation constant
Q	ubiquinone
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
Tris/HCl	Tris (hydroxymethyl)aminomethane hydrochloride

The amino acid numbering and subunit nomenclature are given for *Escherichia coli* Complex I, if not mentioned otherwise.

1. INTRODUCTION

Life on our planet is powered by the energy of sunlight. Phototrophs, plants, algae and cyanobacteria, absorb it directly and convert it into the energy of chemical bonds during photosynthesis. In this complex stepwise process, photon energy is used for electron transfer from water to carbon dioxide, which results in the formation of energy-rich carbohydrates, mainly glucose, sucrose and starch, and the release of molecular oxygen. Photosynthesis is one of the most important biochemical processes in the biosphere, since it conserves solar energy in the form of organic matter. Living cells have a number of powerful catabolic pathways for the conversion of energy from this store into a primary metabolically usable form, namely a transmembrane proton electrochemical gradient. The energy released upon the controlled flow of protons down their electrochemical gradient is used for many energy-consuming processes, such as active transport of molecules across the membrane and production of ATP, the main energy intermediate in the cell.

Utilization of food molecules in order to form the electrochemical proton gradient is referred to as cellular respiration. This process of energy conversion starts from stepwise dehydrogenation of sugars, fatty acids and proteins in correspondent catabolic pathways accompanied by simultaneous reduction of several intermediate electron carriers in the cell, such as NAD⁺ to NADH, quinone to quinol, and release of carbon dioxide as a final product of the disintegration of nutrients. Further, the electrons from these electron donors are transferred through the respiratory or electron transport chain, consisting of a series of transmembrane proteins, to a final electron acceptor, such as molecular oxygen. This multi-step redox reaction releasing free energy is coupled with a vectorial proton transfer across the membrane by the respiratory enzymes. In this way the proton electrochemical gradient, $\Delta\mu_{H+}$, is formed.

This concept of energy conservation in the form of a proton gradient across the membrane was proposed by Peter Mitchell in 1961 in his chemiosmotic theory and nowadays has become the paradigm in bioenergetics (Mitchell, 1961).

1.1. The respiratory chain of eukaryotes

The respiratory chain of eukaryotes is located in mitochondria and in most cases consists of four multisubunit enzymes embedded into the inner mitochondrial membrane and ubiquinone and cytochrome c (see for review (Saraste, 1999)) (Fig. 1). The electron passage from NADH to oxygen starts from the NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase or Complex I. This enzyme catalyzes the transfer of two electrons from NADH to ubiquinone and utilizes free energy released in this redox reaction for the translocation of four protons across the membrane, from the matrix to the intermembrane space (from the N-side to the P-side of the membrane). Hence Complex I serves as a proton pump with an H⁺/2e⁻ stoichiometry of 4. So far the mechanism of energy transduction by Complex I is unknown. It should also be noted, that some aerobic organisms, such as yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, have instead of Complex I an alternative NADH dehydrogenase, which also reduces ubiquinone, but does not contribute to formation of $\Delta \mu_{H_{\pm}}$ (Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001). Ubiquinone can also be reduced by another respiratory enzyme, succinate dehydrogenase or Complex II, which serves as a 'funnel' for the electrons into the respiratory chain. Complex II accepts electrons from succinate, an intermediate product of the Krebs cycle, and transfers them to ubiquinone without coupling this reaction with proton translocation across the membrane (see for reviews (Cecchini, 2003; Horsefield et al., 2004)). Ubiquinone reduced by Complex I or Complex II donates electrons to the ubiquinol:cytochrome c oxidoreductase (bc_1 complex) or Complex III, which utilizes them for the reduction of cytochrome c. Complex III contributes to formation of $\Delta \mu_{H+}$ and works as a Q-loop. This means that a proton uptake from the N-side and its release on the P-side is based on the redox chemistry of quinone, but not on direct translocation of a proton across the membrane part of the protein. Complex III has two quinone-binding sites located on opposite sides of the membrane. Oxidation of quinol accompanied by a release of two protons takes place on the P-side of the membrane. Complex III splits two electrons accepted from one quinol molecule. One of these electrons is used for the reduction of a molecule of water-soluble one-electron carrier cytochrome c, and another is transferred through cofactors of the enzyme to the opposite site of the membrane where it is used for the reduction of another molecule of quinone to semiquinone.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the mitochondrial respiratory chain and ATP syntase. The picture is based on the 3D-structures 2FUG, 1YQ3, 1BGY, 2B4Z, 1QLE, 1BMF, 1YCE. The image of the hydrophobic domain of Complex I comes from the electron microscopy images of the intact enzyme from *N. crassa* (Guenebaut, 1997). Ubiquinone is depicted as an orange circle.

Oxidation of the next molecule of quinol on the P-side provides a second electron to complete the reduction of semiquinone with simultaneous uptake of two protons from the N-side of the membrane. Thus, proton translocation by Complex III is based on vectorial chemistry and has a stoichiometry of 2H⁺/2e⁻ (for reviews see (Crofts, 2004; Osyczka et al., 2005)). The reduced cytochrome c donates an electron to the last enzyme in the respiratory chain, cytochrome c oxidase or Complex IV, which then reduces the final electron acceptor, molecular oxygen, into water. Cytochrome c oxidase works as a proton pump since it translocates two protons across the membrane per electron accepted from cytochrome c (reviewed in (Wikström and Verkhovsky, 2006; Zaslavsky and Gennis, 2000). The redox-driven proton transfer by complexes I, III and IV generates the electrochemical proton gradient across the membrane, which has two components: electrical, $\Delta \psi$, and osmotic, ΔpH . In mitochondria the energy stored in the form of an electrochemical proton gradient is used presumably by ATP synthase for ATP synthesis from ADP and inorganic phosphate (for the review Walker and Dickson, 2006). This process is known as oxidative phosphorylation. ATP serves as the molecular 'currency' of the energy in the cell. However, one has to keep in mind that ATP hydrolysis is accompanied by the release of free energy only because the living cell keeps the mass-action ratio between the substrate, ATP, and products, ADP and phosphate, shifted by several orders of magnitude from the equilibrium through constant synthesis of ATP (Nicholls, 1992). Although some fraction of ATP is available from substate-level phosphorylation (for example, in glycolysis), the energy for the synthesis of the major fraction is produced by the respiratory chain.

1.2. The respiratory chain of prokaryotes

In prokaryotes the respiratory chain is located in the cytoplasmic membrane. The main difference between mitochondrial and bacterial respiratory chains is that the latter is branched, variable and inducible by growth conditions. Bacteria have a wide diversity of the membrane-bound dehydrogenases through which electrons can enter the respiratory chain (Anraku, 1988; Ingledew and Poole, 1984). For example, under aerobic conditions they could be: NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase and succinate dehydrogenase, counterparts of mitochondrial Complex I and Complex II; lactate dehydrogenase,

glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. All mentioned dehydrogenases reduce the membrane quinone pool, but only Complex I contributes to the formation of $\Delta \mu_{H+}$. Quinol is a crossroad for the electron flux in bacterial respiratory chains, because it can be oxidized not only by an analog of mitochondrial *bc*₁ complex (Complex III), but also by the enzymes catalyzing the final electron transfer step. Under aerobic conditions these are terminal oxidases, which catalyse reduction of oxygen to water. Under anaerobic conditions a bacterial cell utilizes other final electron acceptors, such as dimethyl sulfoxide, fumarate, trimethylamine N-oxide, nitrite or nitrate, which are reduced by the enzymes designated as terminal reductases (Anraku, 1988; Ingledew and Poole, 1984).

The present work focuses on the study of Complex I. Since the enzyme used for the research was isolated from aerobically grown Escherichia coli cells, it is worth describing the organization of the respiratory chain of this bacterium in more detail. The oxygen-dependent respiratory chain of E. coli has two distinct NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductases: NDH-I or Complex I and NDH-II or NADH dehydrogenase type-II (Calhoun and Gennis, 1993; Matsushita et al., 1987). NDH-II consists of one polypeptide with noncovalently bound FAD as a redox cofactor (Jaworowski et al., 1981a; Jaworowski et al., 1981b). This enzyme catalyses ubiquinone reduction but does not couple this reaction to proton translocation. Electrons can also enter the respiratory chain of E. coli through Complex II or succinate: ubiquinone oxidoreductase, which consists of four subunits containing five redox groups: covalently bound FAD, three Fe-S clusters and B-type heme (Kita et al., 1989). The respiratory chain of E. coli is simplified because of the absence of an analog of mitochondrial bc_1 complex or Complex III (Ingledew and Poole, 1984). The reduced ubiquinone donates the electrons directly to an oxidase catalyzing reduction of oxygen to water. E. coli has two types of terminal oxidases, namely cytochrome bd quinol oxidase and cytochrome bo_3 quinol oxidase, which have different affinities to oxygen (Ingledew and Poole, 1984). Under high tension of oxygen presumably bo_3 quinol oxidase is expressed, which works as a proton pump with a stoichiometry of 2H⁺/e⁻. This enzyme consists of four polypeptides and contains copper (Cu_B), B-type low-spin heme and O-type high-spin heme, the latter of which reacts with oxygen (Matsushita et al., 1983; Salerno et al., 1990). Under low concentration of oxygen in the medium bd quinol oxidase is expressed. This enzyme consists of two subunits and has B- and D-type high-spin hemes in addition to B-type low-spin heme,

which accepts electrons from quinol (Green *et al.*, 1986; Miller and Gennis, 1983). The *bd* quinol oxidase has a higher affinity to oxygen than bo_3 type oxidase, but does not pump protons (Miller and Gennis, 1985; Puustinen *et al.*, 1991), though it contributes to the generation of an electrochemical proton gradient due to the operation of the redox-loop mechanism.

2. THE STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF COMPLEX I

Complex I is the first member in the respiratory chain of mitochondria and many aerobic bacteria. The enzyme catalyses the transfer of two electrons from NADH to ubiquinone coupled with the translocation of four protons across the membrane, from the matrix side of mitochondria or cytoplasm of bacteria (negative side of the membrane) to the intermembrane space or bacterial periplasm (positive side of the membrane). This reaction contributes to the formation of the proton motive force generated by the respiratory chain. The overall reaction catalyzed by Complex I can be described by the following equation:

$$NADH_{(N-side)} + H^+ + Q + 4H^+_{(N-side)} \rightarrow NAD^+_{(N-side)} + QH_2 + 4H^+_{(P-side)}$$

2.1. The overall structure of Complex I

Complex I is the largest and the most complicated of all respiratory enzymes. In mammalian mitochondria the enzyme is composed of 45 different subunits with a total molecular mass of 980 kDa (Carroll et al., 2006). In contrast bacterial Complex I or NDH-1 is two times smaller in size and has 13-14 subunits with a total mass of approx. 550 kDa, but what is important, all of them have counterparts in mitochondrial enzyme (Friedrich et al., 1995; Leif et al., 1993; Leif et al., 1995; Yagi et al., 1998). Seven of these subunits are highly hydrophobic and in eukaryotes they are encoded by mitochondrial genome (Weidner et al., 1993). Another seven subunits are hydrophilic and contain all redox groups of Complex I, namely the flavin and a number of iron-sulfur clusters (Finel et al., 1992; Wang et al., 1991; Weiss et al., 1991) (Table 1). In eukaryotes hydrophilic subunits are nuclear encoded (Carroll et al., 2002; Hirst et al., 2003). Thus, in both mitochondrial and bacterial Complex I the catalytic core is composed of 14 'minimal' subunits which are sufficient for energy transduction (Leif et al., 1993). The remaining up to 31 subunits in eukaryotic Complex I are called additional or accessory and encoded by the nucleus (Carroll et al., 2006; Fearnley et al., 2007). Their function is not yet clear. In bovine enzyme, 14 of accessory subunits, classified as single transmembrane domain proteins, are probably needed for assembly of the membrane

subunits of Complex I and the stability of the enzyme (Abdrakhmanova *et al.*, 2004). In the yeast *Y. lipolytica* one of the accessory subunits tightly binds NADPH, which is needed for the stability of the enzyme (Abdrakhmanova *et al.*, 2006). In addition, for several subunits a regulatory role has been proposed (Fearnley *et al.*, 2001; Papa *et al.*, 2002).

Single particle analysis of Complex I isolated from a number of eukaryotic (Guenebaut *et al.*, 1997; Djafarzadeh *et al.*, 2000; Grigorieff, 1998; Sazanov and Walker, 2000; Zickermann *et al.*, 2003) and prokaryotic (Peng *et al.*, 2003; Sazanov *et al.*, 2003) sources revealed the unusual L-shape structure of the enzyme, which is composed of two nearly perpendicular standing domains, one hydrophilic and another hydrophobic. The former one contains all redox cofactors and protrudes into the mitochondrial matrix or cytoplasm in bacteria. The latter one is embedded into the membrane. It was noted that the particle size of a bacterial enzyme is smaller in comparison to that of the mitochondrial enzyme due to the absence of additional subunits (Guenebaut *et al.*, 1998).

Since Complex I from bacteria and Complex I from mitochondria are structurally and functionally similar in terms of catalytic core and contain equivalent redox groups, the bacterial Complex I with its 14 subunits is considered a useful simple model for structure-functional studies of mitochondrial enzyme.

Complex I has been under investigation for more than 40 years (Hatefi *et al.*, 1962). For a long time bovine heart mitochondria or the fungus *Neurospora crassa* were used as a source for purification of mitochondrial enzyme. Recently, the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* was introduced as a model organism in studies of eukaryotic Complex I (Kerscher *et al.*, 2002). Complex I is present in bacteria, for example, in *Escherichia coli, Thermus thermophilus, Paraccocus denitrificans* and *Rhodobacter capsulatus* (Yagi *et al.*, 1998). The advantage of bacterial systems for studying Complex I is the relative simplicity of genetic manipulation of prokaryotes. However, the main obstacle in studies of the most bacterial NDH-I is the instability of the protein upon solubilization with detergent (Dupuis *et al.*, 1995; Herter *et al.*, 1997; Yagi, 1986).

Table 1

Central subunits of Complex I (NDH-I in bacteria)

Bovine Complex I	P. denitrificans and T. thermophilus NDH-I	E. coli and R. capsulatus NDH-I	Domain	Sub- complex	Cofactors	Names of Fe-S centers
51-kDa	Nao1	NuoF			FMN	
					[4Fe-4S]	N3
24-kDa	Nqo2	NuoE		DF	[2Fe-2S]	N1a
					[2Fe-2S]	N1b
75-kDa	Nqo3	NuoG	Hydrophilic		2x[4Fe-4S]	N4, N5
			domain		[4Fe-4S]	N7 ^b
49-kDa	Nqo4	NuoD ^α				
30-kDa	Nqo5	NuoC ^α		CF		
PSST	Nqo6	NuoB	-		[4Fe-4S]	N2
TYKY	Nqo9	NuoI			2x[4Fe-4S]	N6a, N6b
ND1	Nqo8	NuoH		MF		
ND2	Nqo14	NuoN				
ND3	Nqo7	NuoA	Hydrophobic domain			
ND4	Nqo13	NuoM				
ND4L	Nqo11	NuoK				
ND5	Nqo12	NuoL				
ND6	Nqo10	NuoJ				
^a In some bacteria, NuoC and D are fused, ^b this cluster present only in some bacteria						

Abbreviations: DF, dehydrogenase fragment; CF, connecting fragment; MF, membrane fragment

So far the intact bacterial enzyme has been purified only from *Escherichia coli* (David *et al.*, 2002; Holt *et al.*, 2003; Leif *et al.*, 1995) (**Paper I, II**), the closely related *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (Krebs *et al.*, 1999), and the extreme thermophile *Aquifex aeolicus* (Peng *et al.*, 2003), while in other bacteria Complex I has been studied in situ (Di Bernardo and Yagi, 2001; Kao *et al.*, 2004b), or in fragments (Sazanov and Hinchliffe,

2006). Although all studied prokaryotic and eukaryotic forms of Complex I have similar core subunits, there is no unified nomenclature established for them. In mitochondrial enzyme hydrophilic nuclear encoded subunits are named according to their molecular masses while hydrophobic mitochondrial DNA-encoded subunits are named 'ND' with a corresponding number. Subunits of bacterial NDH-I from *Paracoccus denitrificans* and *Thermus thermophilus* are named as Nqo, from *Escherichia coli* and *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* – as Nuo (Table 1).

It is worth noting that structure-functional studies of Complex I also have medical importance since numerous neurodegenerative disorders in humans, such as Lebers Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHON), Leigh syndrome and Parkinson's disease, are associated with mutations in Complex I or its deficiency (Robinson, 1998; Loeffen *et al.*, 2000; Triepels *et al.*, 2001). Pathogenic mutations in Complex I have been found in all fourteen "core" subunits as well as in accessory nuclear encoded subunits (Lebon *et al.*, 2003; Lebon *et al.*, 2007; Loeffen *et al.*, 1998; Martin *et al.*, 2005; McFarland *et al.*, 2004; Ugalde *et al.*, 2007; van del Heuvel *et al.*, 1998; Petruzzella and Papa, 2002).

2.1.1. The hydrophilic domain

The NDH-I from *E. coli* is commonly used as a minimal model to study Complex I. The genes encoding all subunits of *E. coli* Complex I named *nuo*A-N are organized in the *nuo* operon (Weidner *et al.*, 1993). The same order of genes is found in other species of bacteria (Friedrich *et al.*, 1995; Weidner *et al.*, 1993; Xu *et al.*, 1993). It should also be noted that in *E. coli* Complex I two genes — *nuo*C and *nuo*D — are fused (Blattner *et al.*, 1997; Braun *et al.*, 1998), which results in a 13 subunit enzyme. Anyhow, this fusion has been found only in a few bacterial species.



Figure 2. A. The overall structure of the catalytic core of Complex I. The picture was prepared based on the crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of *T. thermophilus* Complex I (Protein Data Bank entry 2FUG (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006)). The arrangement of subunits within the hydrophobic domain is based on currently available data (see text). Subunits are marked according to *E. coli* nomenclature except for the subunit Nqo15, the presence of which could be specific only for thermophiles. The yellow transparent circle marks the place of the tentative quinone-binding site. **B.** Arrangement of redox groups within the hydrophilic domain. Edge-to-edge distances are given in Å. The picture was prepared using VMD molecular visualization software (Humphrey *et al.*, 1996).

The hydrophilic domain of *E. coli* Complex I is composed of six subunits, namely NuoE, NuoF, NuoG, NuoCD, NuoI and NuoB, which contain all redox groups of the enzyme (Table 1). Recently, the 3D crystal structure of this domain from *T. thermophilus* enzyme has been resolved by X-ray analysis (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006) (Fig. 2A). The resolved structure shows the arrangement of the core subunits within the hydrophilic domain and redox groups that they contain. The iron-sulfur clusters form an intramolecular electron transport chain, which spans through the whole length of the hydrophilic domain and provides a pathway for the electron transfer from the flavin, located on the top of the peripheral arm to the ubiquinone bound in the membrane domain of the enzyme. Thus, the function of the hydrophilic domain is the oxidation of the NADH

and electron delivery to the quinone-binding site. It should also be noted that the crystal structure revealed the presence of an additional subunit in the hydrophilic arm of *T*. *thermophilus* Complex I (Hinchliffe *et al.*, 2006; Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). This new subunit was designated as Nqo15, according to *T. thermophilus* nomenclature. Although Nqo15 interacts with subunits Nqo3, Nqo2, Nqo1, Nqo9 and Nqo4 (NuoG, NuoE, NuoF, NuoI and NuoCD in *E. coli*) it is not a part of the operon encoding the bacterial enzyme. It has been suggested that permanent binding of Nqo15 to Complex I is needed for the stability of the enzyme in thermophiles (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). Since this subunit has homology to the frataxin protein family, it can also be involved in storage of iron, which is used for reconstitution of the neighboring iron-sulfur clusters N3 and N1a (Hinchliffe *et al.*, 2006; Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006).

Sequence analysis of the 'central' subunits of Complex I has prompted the suggestion that this protein has evolved from the preexisting modules (Friedrich and Scheide, 2000; Friedrich and Weiss, 1997). This conclusion correlates with the experimental observation that upon treatment with a detergent the isolated bacterial Complex I can be cleaved into three big fragments (Leif *et al.*, 1995). Three hydrophilic subunits, NuoE, NuoF and NuoG, are similar to non-energy converting NAD⁺-reducing hydrogenases (Pilkington et al., 1991) and comprise the NADH-dehydrogenase fragment of the hydrophilic domain of Complex I (Leif et al., 1995) (Table 1). This three subunit fragment serves as an electron input of the protein (Braun et al., 1998). It is also capable of catalyzing an artificial reaction of electron transfer from NADH to a number of water-soluble electron acceptors, such as FeCy and HAR (Vinogradov, 1998), which are bound at a specific site close to the flavin and accept electrons most probably from this redox cofactor (Dooijewaard and Slater, 1976; Gavrikova et al., 1995; Sled' and Vinogradov, 1993; Zickermann et al., 2000). The reduction of artificial electron acceptors is insensitive to specific inhibitors of Complex I and not coupled to proton transfer. The connecting fragment of the hydrophilic domain consists of NuoCD, NuoB and NuoI subunits, and is located between the NADH-dehydrogenase and membrane fragments. These subunits have homologues in the family of membrane-bound dehydrogenases (Friedrich et al., 1993; Weidner et al., 1993). NuoB and NuoD have an intrinsic homology with small and big subunits of bacterial [NiFe] hydrogenases (Albracht, 1993; Volbeda et al., 1995). Two fragments comprising the hydrophilic domain can be

easily distinguished on the resolved crystal structure (Fig. 2A) (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). The third fragment in Complex I is the membrane domain which serves as a transporter module. It contains seven subunits three of which are homologues to cation/proton antiporters (Friedrich and Scheide, 2000) (see below).

2.1.2. The hydrophobic domain

Present knowledge of the structure of the hydrophobic domain is limited, but this part of the enzyme must be involved in quinone binding and also be responsible for proton pumping. The membrane arm of E. coli Complex I is composed of seven hydrophobic subunits, small NuoA, NuoH, NuoJ, NuoK and large NuoL, NuoM and NuoN, which have been predicted to form approximately 60 α -helices spanning the membrane (Bernardo et al., 2000; Kao et al., 2002; Kao et al., 2003; Mathiesen and Hagerhall, 2002; Roth and Hagerhall, 2001). The 3D-structure of the membrane domain is not yet known. Tentative assignment of subunit localization within the membrane domain has been done based on the following: the results of cross-linking experiments (Di Bernardo and Yagi, 2001; Kao et al., 2004b); mutagenesis (Bai and Attardi, 1998; Cardol et al., 2002; Sazanov et al., 2000); fragmentation of Complex I with detergents (Holt et al., 2003; Sazanov et al., 2000); cryo-electron microscopy of two-dimensional crystals of the membrane part of Complex I (Baranova et al., 2007a; Sazanov and Walker, 2000); and single-particle analysis of the protein fragmentized by detergent (Baranova et al., 2007b) (Fig. 2A). It has been suggested that subunits NuoA, H, J and K form the proximal part of the membrane arm. In other words, they are located in the area of the junction between two domains where the quinone-binding site has been proposed to reside (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006; Sazanov, 2007). The site-directed mutagenesis of the conserved intramembrane acidic amino acid residues in NuoA (Kao et al., 2004a), NuoJ (Kao et al., 2005a), NuoH (Kurki et al., 2000) and NuoK (Kao et al., 2005b; Kervinen et al., 2004) has revealed that these subunits are involved in the process of quinone reduction. Two of the large subunits, NuoM and NuoL, are located in the distal part of the membrane domain and clearly separated from the others (Baranova et al., 2007a; Baranova et al., 2007b). The remaining NuoN, even if it could be considered to be located in the middle of the membrane domain, tends to be adjacent more to the proximal than to the distal part

of the membrane domain (Baranova *et al.*, 2007a). Sequence analysis of the NuoM, N and L has revealed that they are similar to each other and related to the family of multisubunit K^+ or Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters (Fearnley and Walker, 1992; Hiramatsu *et al.*, 1998; Kikuno and Miyata, 1985; Mathiesen and Hagerhall, 2002). It is very probable that these subunits are involved in proton translocation by Complex I. This suggestion is also favored by the results of site-directed mutagenesis of the NuoM and NuoN subunits (Amarneh and Vik, 2003; Torres-Bacete *et al.*, 2007).

Native inhibitors of Complex I are being widely used for probing the structure and function of the membrane domain of the protein. They are hydrophobic or amphipathic naturally occurring compounds which occur naturally and interact within the hydrophobic part of the enzyme and compete with the native electron acceptor for the binding site. Inhibitors were divided into three groups according to their steady-state inhibition kinetics (Degli Esposti, 1998). The first group is comprised of antagonists of ubiquinone (type A). Members of the second group displace ubisemiquinone (type B) and members of the third (type C) are antagonists of the formed ubiquinol (Degli Esposti, 1998). For example, piericidin A belongs to type A inhibitors; the classical inhibitor of mitochondrial Complex I, rotenone – to type B, and capsaicin A – to type C. However, it should be noted that in contrast to mitochondrial Complex I some of its bacterial analogs are not sensitive to rotenone (Friedrich et al., 1994). The most potent competitive inhibitors of quinone reductase activity are the members of the annonaceous acetogenin family (type A) (Degli Esposti et al., 1994; Shimada et al., 1998), which inhibit mitochondrial and bacterial Complex I in the nanomolar concentration range (Degli Esposti et al., 1994) (Paper II). One of the commonly used representatives of this family is rolliniastatin (Hui et al., 1989). Studies of the direct competition between inhibitors of different types have revealed that they have overlapping binding sites (Friedrich et al., 1994; Okun et al., 1999; Tormo and Estornell, 2000). It has been concluded that Complex I has a single pocket in the membrane domain which accommodates the quinone-binding site as well as binding sites for specific inhibitors with a different structure. Thus far there is no consensus on subunits comprising the quinoneand inhibitor-binding sites. Based on the resolved crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of *T. thermophilus* Complex I it has been suggested that subunits Nqo4 and Nqo6 (NuoB and NuoD in E. coli) from the connecting fragment accommodate the head group

of quinone (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006), while subunits located in the proximal part of the membrane arm should accommodate its hydrophobic tail. This suggestion is in line with results of the mutagenesis work on *R. capsulatus* Complex I which revealed several mutations in the NuoD subunit that cause resistance towards potent inhibitors of the quinone-binding site, piericidin and rotenone, and decrease the rate of quinone reduction (Prieur *et al.*, 2001; Dupuis *et al.*, 2001). Photolabelling of Complex I showed that the NuoB (Schuler and Casida, 2001) and NuoH (Murai *et al.*, 2007; Schuler and Casida, 2001) subunits are indeed involved in the binding of quinone and inhibitors. Unexpectedly, NuoL (Nakamaru-Ogiso *et al.*, 2003) and NuoM (Gong *et al.*, 2003), located in the distal part of the hydrophobic domain were also labeled. These results imply the presence of at least two quinone-binding sites in Complex I. Since these findings are controversial, further experiments are clearly needed.

2.2. Redox groups

2.2.1. Flavin

Flavin mononucleotide is the primary electron acceptor in Complex I. It simultaneously accepts two electrons and a proton in the form of a hydride from NADH (Ghisla and Massey, 1989) and serves as a converter between strictly two-electron donor NADH and strictly one-electron carriers, iron-sulfur clusters (Sled' *et al.*, 1994). Flavin is non–covalently bound (Rao *et al.*, 1963) to the NuoF subunit (Table 1) (Pilkington *et al.*, 1991) which is located at the top of the hydrophilic domain (Fig. 2) (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). Using a photoactive arylazido derivative of NAD⁺ it was shown that the NADH-binding site also resides within the same subunit (Chen and Guillory, 1981; Chen and Guillory, 1984). Indeed, the crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of *T. thermophilus* Complex I showed that the FMN is located in a cavity which is large enough to accommodate one molecule of NADH (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006).

Studies have also been made into the thermodynamic properties of the flavin in mitochondrial Complex I. The midpoint redox potentials of two one-electron transitions of the flavin, $E_{m,7.5}^{1/0}$ and $E_{m,7.5}^{2/1}$, were found to have values of -415 mV and -336 mV,

respectively (Sled' *et al.*, 1994). The midpoint potential of the two-electron reduction of the flavin, $E_{m,7.0}^{2/0}$, was determined to be about – 340 mV (Barker *et al.*, 2007; Esterhazy *et al.*, 2008; Sled' *et al.*, 1994). We obtained a similar value for the flavin in *E. coli* Complex I (– 350 mV, pH 7.5) (**Paper III**). The midpoint potential of FMN in Complex I is approx. 130-140 mV lower than that of the free flavin in an aqueous solution (– 207 mV, pH 7.0) (Draper and Ingraham, 1968). This downshift is probably needed for matching the midpoint potential of a donor, NADH, which has the E_m value of – 335 mV, pH 7.5 (Zu *et al.*, 2003; Clark, 1960). A close inspection of the flavin-binding site revealed that the FMN is surrounded by four strictly conserved acidic amino acid residues, which could be responsible for maintaining its low redox potential (PDB entry 2FUG, chain 1). A similar case of downshifting of the redox potential of non-covalently bound flavin by acidic amino acid residues has been described for flavodoxin from *Clostridium beijerinckii* (Bradley and Swenson, 1999).

2.2.2. Iron-sulfur clusters

Complex I derived from most sources contains eight iron-sulfur clusters (Fearnley and Walker, 1992; Weidner et al., 1993; Yagi et al., 1993), in accordance with the number of conserved sequence motifs. However, in some bacteria, such as E. coli and T. thermophilus, Complex I carries one additional iron-sulfur cluster (Yano et al., 1997; Friedrich, 1998). The most reliable methodology for detecting iron-sulfur clusters and studying their properties is EPR spectroscopy at low temperatures (Palmer, 1985). Using this method, individual spectra of five Fe-S centers have been resolved in bovine enzyme reduced with NADH (Ohnishi, 1998). They have been designated as N1, N2, N3, N4, and N5, according to their spin relaxation rates (the higher the cluster number, the lower the optimal temperature at which the spectrum of the cluster can be seen). Complex I has two binuclear clusters named N1a and N1b. In mitochondrial enzyme they have different redox properties (see below) and only N1b can be detected after reduction of the protein with NADH, whereas in bacterial enzyme signals derived from both clusters can be observed. Since binuclear clusters have slow spin relaxation rates, their spectra can be detected and studied separately from tetranuclear centers at higher temperatures (>30K). All other clusters in Complex I are tetranuclear, and can be seen at temperatures lower

than 20 K and high microwave power. In principle, all iron-sulfur clusters present in a protein should be EPR visible when they are reduced — present in the paramagnetic state — but for some unknown reasons, this is not the case for Complex I (Ohnishi, 1998). Moreover, the number of EPR detectable clusters varies with the source of the enzyme. Thus, five clusters were determined in *Y. lipolytica* (Djafarzadeh *et al.*, 2000) and *E. coli* Complex I (Leif *et al.*, 1995), and only four in the enzyme from *N. crassa* (Wang *et al.*, 1991). Identification of the subunit localization of individual Fe-S clusters (Table 1) has been done on the basis of EPR analysis of a) the protein with disrupted subunits, b) subcomplexes of Complex I and c) its overexpressed and purified individual subunits (see below).

It has been shown that the N1a cluster is located in the NuoE (Nqo2/24 kDa) subunit (Yano *et al.*, 1994a; Yano *et al.*, 1994b; Yano *et al.*, 1995); N3 resides in the NuoF subunit (Nqo1/51kDa) where the NADH- and FMN-binding sites are located (Fecke *et al.*, 1994; Yano *et al.*, 1996); and that the NuoG (Nqo3/75kDa) contains one binuclear center N1b (Yano *et al.*, 1995), and two tetranuclear clusters, N4 (Yano *et al.*, 1995) and N5 (Yano *et al.*, 2003).

The NuoB (Nqo6/PSST) subunit has a unique sequence motif for binding of the tetranuclear cluster N2 (Ahlers *et al.*, 2000; Duarte *et al.*, 2002; Flemming *et al.*, 2003). The EPR spectra of two tetranuclear clusters have been detected in the overexpressed and purified subunit NuoI from *P. denitrificans* (Ohnishi, 1998). These clusters have also been studied using UV/Vis spectroscopy, and have been designated as N6a and N6b (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2001).

All these studies were the basis for the assignment of Fe-S clusters in the resolved crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of *T. thermophilus* Complex I (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). The 3D-structure also showed the position of additional cluster ligated by the NuoG subunit. This center was named as N7. At the present time it is clear that seven clusters, N3, N1b, N4, N5, N6a, N6b and N2 compose a chain through which electrons are transferred from the flavin to the ubiquinone, while clusters N1a and N7 are placed outside of this chain (Fig. 2B) (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). Recently it has been shown that cluster N7 is not involved in electron transfer, but needed for stability of the enzyme (Pohl *et al.*, 2007). Considering redox properties of iron-sulfur clusters, it is widely accepted that most of them, N1b, N3, N4, N5, N6a and N6b, have a

pH-independent midpoint potential of about – 250mV (pH 7.0) (Ingledew and Ohnishi, 1980; Ohnishi, 1998; Rasmussen et al., 2001). Therefore these centers are called isopotential. The midpoint potential of the binuclear cluster N1a in mitochondrial Complex I was found to have the very low value of -400 mV (Ohnishi, 1998; Zu et al., 2002) and also to be pH-dependent (- 60 mV/pH) (Ingledew and Ohnishi, 1980; Meinhardt et al., 1987; Zu et al., 2002). However, in bacterial enzyme this cluster has a higher value of $E_{\rm m}$, such as -150 mV and -250 mV in Complex I from P. denitrificans (Meinhardt et al., 1987) and E. coli (Leif et al., 1995), respectively. Clusters N1a and N3 are the closest to the flavin. Considering the order in which the flavin donates electrons to them, it was suggested that the first electron is going to N3, because it is located at a distance of 7.6 Å from the flavin (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006) and has strong spin-spin interaction with semireduced flavin (Sled' et al., 1994). The N1a cluster is more distal (Fig. 2B) and it accepts the second electron from the reduced flavin. It has been suggested that this cluster may play the role of an antioxidant in Complex I, preventing accumulation of the flavosemiquinone radical which can be the source of ROS production (Sazanov, 2007).

The last center in the chain is tetranuclear N2. The midpoint potential of N2 is pH-dependent (– 60 mV/pH) (Ingledew and Ohnishi, 1980; Meinhardt *et al.*, 1987) and has the highest value among all iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I. The E_m value for N2 was reported within the range from – 30 mV (Krishnamoorthy and Hinkle, 1988) to – 220 mV (Leif *et al.*, 1995). The EPR studies of bovine enzyme revealed a magnetic interaction of N2 with ubisemiquinone radicals bound to Complex I (see below) (Magnitsky *et al.*, 2002; Ohnishi *et al.*, 1998a; Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995). A distance of 12Å has been calculated between N2 and fast relaxing ubisemiquinone (Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995). On the basis of all these findings, cluster N2 is considered an immediate electron donor for ubiquinone.

2.3. Semiquinones

Thus far EPR signals of ubisemiquinone radicals associated with Complex I have been observed in isolated bovine enzyme (Suzuki and King, 1983) and in submitochondrial particles derived from bovine heart (De Jong *et al.*, 1994; De Jong and Albracht, 1994; Kotlyar *et al.*, 1990; Magnitsky *et al.*, 2002; Salerno *et al.*, 1979; van Belzen *et al.*, 1997; Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995). Two distinct species of ubisemiquinone have been identified, named SQN_{fast} and SQN_{slow}, based on their spin relaxation rate (Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995; Magnitsky *et al.*, 2002). Extremely fast relaxing SQN_{fast} can be detected only in tightly coupled membrane particles. It is sensitive to the electrochemical proton gradient across the membrane and specific inhibitors of Complex I (Magnitsky *et al.*, 2002; Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995). A fast rate of relaxation of SQN_{fast} indicates that this radical magnetically interacts with a neighboring paramagnetic center. Indeed, analysis of the effect of membrane energization on the saturation of SQN_{fast} signal and properties of the spectra of N2 cluster revealed that they are correlated with each other (De Jong *et al.*, 1994). Splitting of the characteristic signal of N2 cluster was interpreted as a spin-spin interaction with SQN_{fast}. Considering dipolar coupling between Spins which leads to broadening and splitting of the signal, the distance between N2 and the fast relaxing semiquinone radical was calculated as 12 Å (Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995; Yano *et al.*, 2005).

In contrast to the fast relaxing semiquinone radical, the SQN_{slow} is not sensitive to $\Delta\mu_{H+}$ and can be detected in uncoupled SMP. Another characteristic of the slow relaxing ubisemiquinone radical is its low sensivity to Complex I inhibitors (Magnitsky *et al.*, 2002; Ohnishi *et al.*, 2005; Yano *et al.*, 2005). The SQN_{slow} also magnetically interacts with the N2 cluster, but this interaction is weak. The distance between these two centers was estimated to be about 30 Å (Ohnishi, 1998; Vinogradov *et al.*, 1995).

2.4. ROS production by Complex I

Since the redox cofactors of Complex I have the lowest midpoint potentials within the respiratory chain, it is widely considered that Complex I is one of the main sources of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide, in mitochondria (Brand *et al.*, 2004; Raha and Robinson, 2000; Turrens, 2003). Studies of the mechanism of ROS production by Complex I are of particular interest, because of the biological significance of ROS. Reactive oxygen species damage cell structures, DNA and RNA and are involved in the processes of oxidative stress and aging (Balaban *et al.*, 2005). There are two tentative sites for ROS production in Complex I: the flavin and the ubiquinone, since both of them have been detected in the radical form (Sled' *et al.*, 1994; Yano *et al.*, 2005). There are several lines of evidence suggesting that most probably fully reduced or semireduced flavin is the source of reactive oxygen species in Complex I. It has been shown that the dependence of ROS production on the pre-set redox potential can be described as a Nernstian curve with a midpoint potential of -360 mV (pH 7.5), which corresponds to the potential of a two-electron transition of the flavin (Kussmaul and Hirst, 2006). The pH optimum for ubiquinone reduction differs from that for superoxide generation and the latter's rate is not sensitive to the inhibitors of the quinone-binding site (Galkin and Brandt, 2005). Remarkably, it was found also that mitochondrial Complex I presumably generates O_2^{-} , while its bacterial counterpart - H_2O_2 (Esterhazy *et al.*, 2008).

2.5. Proton translocation stoichiometry

The first determinations of proton translocation stoichiometry of Complex I were done using the oxidant 'pulse' method introduced by Mitchell and Moyle (Mitchell and Moyle, 1967). In this technique, a defined quantity of oxygen is added into a suspension of anaerobic mitochondria. This initiates a brief respiratory burst accompanied by proton ejection from the mitochondrial matrix, which can be measured with a pH-sensitive electrode. Using selective conditions and modifications of the oxidant 'pulse' method, it was reported that Complex I translocates one proton per electron (Lawford and Garland, 1972a; Lawford and Garland, 1972b; Mitchell and Moyle, 1967; Ragan and Hinkle, 1975). Therefore it was suggested that Complex I works as a Q-loop (Lawford and Garland, 1972b; Mitchell and Moyle, 1967). However, due to the technical limitations of the used oxidant pulse approach the determined H⁺/e⁻ ratio was underestimated (Lawford and Garland, 1973; Brand et al., 1976). Later, Pozzan and co-workers based on their comparative studies of H^+/e^- stoichiometries of Complex I and Complex III, suggested that the former pumps 2 protons per electron (Pozzan et al., 1979). The first direct evidence that Complex I works as a proton pump was published by Wikström (Wikström, 1984b). The experiment was simple and elegant. The intact anaerobic mitochondria were incubated with either hydroxybutyrate or succinate. The alkalinization of the matrix after the pulse of ferricyanide as an oxidant was followed

spectrophotometrically using a pH sensitive membrane permeable probe, neutral red (Junge et al., 1979). Optical absorption of this probe changes proportionally in response to the change of proton concentration in the mitochondrial matrix (Wikström, 1984a). As a result, when hydroxybutyrate was used as a substrate, the linear dependence of the extent of alkalinization on the amount of added oxidant had a 2.8-times greater slope than in the case of succinate. The same result was obtained in a set of similar experiments where charge displacement was measured in response to oxidation by ferricyanide using potential sensitive dye safranine, which had been reported as a probe for measurements of mitochondrial membrane potential (Akerman and Wikström, 1976). Since at that time it was already known that the q^{+}/e^{-} ratio for the span between succinate and cytochrome c (or ferricyanide) is one (Leung and Hinkle, 1975), the obtained results indicated that the H^+/e^- and q^+/e^- ratio for the span between NADH and ubiquinone is 2. Thus it was shown that Complex I translocates 2 protons per electron (Wikström, 1984b). Later, the proton pumping stoichiometry of Complex I was measured using submitochondrial particles derived from bovine heart mitochondria (Galkin et al., 1999) and finally in proteoliposomes with a reconstituted enzyme isolated from Yarrowia lipolytica (Galkin et al., 2006). These works further supported the conclusion that the H^+/e^- stoichiometry of mitochondrial Complex I has the value of 2. Unfortunately, for bacterial Complex I the proton pumping stoichiometry is not so well defined as it is for its mitochondrial analog. The main obstacle for measurement of H⁺/e⁻ ratio for NDH-I in the intact bacterial cells is the presence of other membrane-bound respiratory chain linked NADH-dehydrogenases (see Chapter 1.2), which do not pump protons. Their activity decreases the H⁺/e⁻ ratio measured for Complex I. So far, there is only one report on proton pumping stoichiometry in bacterial Complex I (Bogachev et al., 1996). For these measurements the authors used E. coli cells grown anaerobically in the presence of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Under these conditions the respiratory chain of this bacteria consists of NDH-I, terminal cytochrome bd oxidase and dimethyl sulfoxide reductase. On the basis of the extent of acidification in the media in response to a pulse of a defined amount of either O_2 or DMSO, the H⁺/e⁻ stoichiometry for Complex I and Complex I plus bd oxidase was determined as 1.5 and 2.5, respectively. Therefore, it was concluded that Complex I pumps at least 1.5 protons per electron (Bogachev et al., 1996). Low stoichiometry was explained by the fact that in anaerobic conditions menaquinone is used

in the *E. coli* respiratory chain as an electron acceptor. Since it has a more negative redox potential than ubiquinone, the energy released upon its reduction with NADH by Complex I may not be enough for the translocation of four protons across the membrane (Bongaerts *et al.*, 1995). The obtained H^+/e^- stoichiometry does not exclude the possibility that in aerobically grown *E. coli* cells this ratio is higher, but this hypothesis has not been tested yet.

2.6. Proposed mechanism of proton pumping

At the present time two kinds of hypotheses explaining the molecular mechanism of Complex I are being discussed. The first one is referred to as direct (redox-driven) coupling (Dutton et al., 1998; Ohnishi and Salerno, 2005). It is based on the observation of two distinct species of ubisemiquinone associated with Complex I (Vinogradov et al., 1995; Yano et al., 2005) and therefore employs two types of quinone molecules, which reside in membrane dielectric. One of them is exchangeable with the membrane quinone pool, while another is tightly bound to the protein and serves as the gate and the coupling site. According to this model, tightly bound quinone accepts electrons from the N2 cluster with simultaneous acquisition of two protons from the matrix side of the membrane. The energy released upon this redox reaction is used to convert formed ubiquinol into a state in which it can release protons to the cytoplasmic side of the membrane with simultaneous transfer of electrons to the molecule of the exchangeable quinone. Then tightly bound quinone returns to the initial 'input' state in which it can be again reduced by N2 and the exchangeable quinone, after uptake of two protons from the matrix side in order to accomplish redox chemistry, thereby dissociating from the protein. Thus the proton pumping stoichiometry approaches the value of $4H^{+}/2e^{-}$ (Ohnishi and Salerno, 2005)

Another proposed mechanism of Complex I is called indirect conformation-driven coupling (Brandt *et al.*, 2003; Brandt *et al.*, 2005; Zickermann *et al.*, 2003; Yagi and Matsuno-Yagi, 2003). It hypothesizes that only one molecule of quinone is involved in the mechanism and it is exchangeable with the membrane quinone pool. The essence of this hypothesis is that the reduction of the quinone by the N2 cluster results in long-range conformational changes which lead to proton translocation by distantly located antiporter-like subunits NuoN, NuoM and NuoL. Several lines of evidence favour this

hypothesis. For example, comparison of two-dimensional crystals of *E. coli* Complex I obtained in the presence and absence of nucleotides revealed conformational rearrangements in the protein structure upon reduction with NADH (Mamedova *et al.*, 2004; Morgan and Sazanov, 2008). Large reorganization in the structure upon reduction was also detected in FT-IR experiments on Complex I (Hellwig *et al.*, 2000). It is also possible that a combination of direct and indirect mechanisms occurs in Complex I (Baranova *et al.*, 2007b; Friedrich, 2001; Sazanov *et al.*, 2000), but in any case neither of the proposed models provides a comprehensive explanation of the mechanism of proton translocation by the membrane part of this respiratory enzyme.

3. AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The main focus of this thesis was an extensive study of the electron transfer reactions in Complex I upon its reduction with NADH and an assessment of the mechanistic principle of the proton pumping by this energy transducing enzyme.

- Since the techniques used in this study require a big amount of pure and active enzyme, the first objective was to establish a conventional protocol for purification of Complex I from *E. coli* and optimize the conditions for observation of its enzymatic activity.
- The second objective was to determine accurately the midpoint potentials of the redox centers of Complex I by means of spectroelectrochemical and EPR redox titrations.
- The third objective was to resolve real time electron transfer kinetics through the chain of iron-sulfur clusters, thereby providing answers to some questions on the principles of the molecular mechanism of coupled proton translocation by Complex I.
- The fourth objective was to validate the involvement of the membrane subunit NuoM in the proton pumping process and propose the mechanism for energy coupling between the spatially separated Q-binding site and proton pumping subunits.
 - The fifth objective was to assess the role of invariant Glu95 from the NADH-binding site (electron input in Complex I) and three conserved amino acid residues, Arg274, His224 and His228, located in the vicinity of the N2 cluster, the immediate electron donor for ubiquinone.

4. METHODOLOGY

4.1. Isolation of Complex I

For isolation of wild type Complex I, the *E. coli* strain MWC215 (Calhoun and Gennis, 1993) was used. It has a knockout of NDH-II that yields a 2-fold increase of the Complex I content in cytoplasmic membranes.

For the membrane preparation and further purification of Complex I, the bacterial cells were grown aerobically in a 25 L fermentor in LB medium at 37 °C for approx. 4h until the late exponential growth phase. The detailed description of the membrane preparation can be found in **Papers II** and **VI**.

Since Complex I is stable only in a narrow pH range and sensitive to detergent concentration, its purification should be done in mild conditions. The developed protocol for Complex I purification consists of two ion-exchange chromatographies on the weak anion exchanger DEAE-Trisacryl M (BioSepra) and centrifugation in a sucrose density gradient (for details see **Papers II** and **VI**). However, the last step has recently been replaced by gel filtration on Superdex 200 prep grade (GE Healthcare). For a single gel filtration chromatography 1ml of protein solution (10mg/ml) after two previous steps of ion exchange chromatography on DEAE-Trisacryl was applied onto a self-packed 130 ml bed volume of Superdex 200 in an XK16/70 column (GE Healthcare), equilibrated with 50 mM MES/NaOH, pH6.0, containing 150 mM NaCl, 10% sucrose, 2.5% glycerol and 0.025% DDM. The elution was performed at 0.5 ml/min flow rate in the equilibration buffer.

For site-directed mutagenesis of Complex I, the parental strain GR70N containing both NDH-I and NDH-II (Green *et al.*, 1984) was used. The details of the genetic manipulations can be found in **Papers II**, **V** and **VI**. Complex I from the parent GR70N strain was used as a control for the characterization of obtained mutations. In order to estimate the content of Complex I in membranes of GR70N and mutated strains and avoid interference from NDH-II, an analog of NADH, namely dNADH, was used for the activity measurements, because it is specific only for Complex I (Matsushita *et al.*, 1987).

4.2. Measurements of the enzymatic activity

The ability of Complex I to catalyze the electron transfer from NADH to an electron acceptor is considered as its enzymatic activity. It can be measured with both membrane-bound and solubilized enzymes. The assay is based on spectrophotometrical measurement of the rate of NADH oxidation by following the decrease of absorption at 340 nm where the spectrum of reduced NADH has a maximum. Therefore the activity is usually expressed in µmol of NADH oxidized by mg of the protein per minute. In vivo E. coli Complex I catalyzes reduction of ubiquinone-8. This activity is referred to as native. For in vitro measurements an analog of the natural electron acceptor, decylubiquinone, was usually used. Its reduction also requires the entire enzyme and is sensitive to inhibitors of Complex I. However, the measurement of the native activity can not be used for quantitative determinations of Complex I, since it is always limited by the low solubility of the acceptor in an aqueous solution and therefore a low rate of quinone exchange in the catalytic site of Complex I. In the present study we partially overcame this obstacle by adding into the reaction a mixture of purified ubiquinol bo_3 oxidase, which facilitates turnover of Complex I by fast oxidation of ubiquinol dissociating from the catalytic site.

In vitro, a number of artificial electron acceptors, such as FeCy and HAR (Vinogradov, 1998), can be utilized besides DQ. Their reduction by Complex I is much faster than that of quinones, because it employs only FMN and the NADH-binding site that are located within the NADH-dehydrogenase fragment. Therefore, the rate of such artificial reactions virtually does not change upon isolation of Complex I from the membranes, and can be used as a measure of the enzyme purity. In the present study HAR was routinely used as an artificial electron acceptor, because, in contrast to FeCy, its reduction has no effect on the optical changes at 340 nm and it does not compete with NADH for the nucleotide-binding site (Gavrikova *et al.*, 1995; Sled' and Vinogradov, 1993). In the present study we also found that a low concentration of potassium ions facilitates artificial activity of Complex I. Measurements of artificial and native enzymatic activities are described in detail in **Papers I** and **VI**.

4.3. Monitoring of proton pumping

Proton pumping activity of Complex I coupled with NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreduction can be registered either in membrane vesicles obtained from bacterial cells or in liposomes with reconstituted purified enzyme. In the former case one can follow energy dependent acidification of the interior of membrane particles by Complex I by means of the pH-sensitive fluorescent probe, acridine orange (λ_{ex} = 493 nm, λ_{em} =530 nm) and estimate the efficiency of the proton pump by comparing the initial rate of acidification with ubiquinone reductase activity of the enzyme. Besides Complex I, native *E. coli* membrane vesicles contain NDH-II and terminal *bo₃* oxidase. In order to observe exclusively proton pumping activity of Complex I, dNADH was used as an electron donor, which cannot be utilized by an alternative NDH-II (Matsushita *et al.*, 1987). Also, KCN was added in order to inactivate the terminal oxidase. The measurements were performed with ionophore valinomycin and potassium ions present, in order to maximize the Δ pH component of the proton motive force generated by Complex I and reduce formation of the transmembrane potential, which inhibits proton pumping. Details of the assay are discussed in **Paper V**.

In proteoliposomes the proton pumping activity of Complex I was monitored by registration of the $\Delta \psi$ component of the proton motive force by means of an electric potential-sensitive dye, Oxonol VI. At physiological pH oxonols are present in an anionic water-soluble form (Smith *et al.*, 1976) which is characterized by an absorption maximum at approx. 600 nm (Bashford and Thayer, 1977). Generation of electric potential across the membrane in a way that the inside is more positive than the outside, results in Oxonol VI neutralization with simultaneous shift of its absorption maximum to 625 nm (Bashford and Thayer, 1977). Upon neutralization, Oxonol VI becomes insoluble and starts to precipitate, which results in quenching of its absorbance at 625 nm. In comparison to other oxonols, Oxonol VI is a more sensitive probe because of its short response time and large amplitude of the red shift in response to the formed electric potential (Smith *et al.*, 1976). The reconstitution of the isolated enzyme into proteoliposomes was completed in two steps. During the first one the protein was equilibrated with the mixture of soybean asolectin solubilized by sodium cholate. The formation of closed lipid bilayer vesicles containing the reconstituted protein was achieved by sequential additions of SM-2

Bio-Beads (Bio-Rad Laboratories) which slowly absorb the detergent from the protein-lipid mixture (Jasaitis *et al.*, 1999; Rigaud *et al.*, 1995). During this process Complex I is incorporated into liposomes randomly in both orientations. Estimation of the ratio between the two orientations was based on NADH:HAR oxidoreductase activity of Complex I in proteoliposomes measured with and without alamethicine. Molecules of this antibiotic form channels in biological membranes thereby providing an access for the water-soluble NADH to the liposome interior where it can be oxidized by Complex I with the hydrophilic domain oriented inwards. Description of Complex I reconstitution into liposomes and details of the assay can be found in **Paper II**.

4.4. EPR spectroscopy

Properties of iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I were studied by means of EPR spectroscopy. Each of the Fe-S centers in reduced state has an individual EPR spectrum characterized by the special parameters of the magnetic field g_x , g_y and g_z , and unique EPR property, namely relaxation time. EPR studies of Complex I are complicated since the spectra of iron-sulfur clusters overlap and have very close g-values. In order to investigate the properties of a particular cluster separately from the others one has to use selective temperature and microwave power conditions under which the signal from the center of interest will dominate in the overall spectrum of Complex I.

We used EPR spectroscopy for several purposes. First, we detected and characterized the signals of iron-sulfur clusters of Complex I reduced by an excess of NADH. This is the so-called steady-state condition of the reduced enzyme (**Paper I** and **II**). Second, we resolved the kinetics of electron transfer through the chain of iron-sulfur clusters. This was done by ultra-fast freezing of the sample in the time range from tens of microseconds to tens of milliseconds after mixing it with NADH. EPR spectra of frozen samples were analyzed to follow the redox changes of individual Fe-S clusters, which allowed us to monitor the movement of two electrons delivered by NADH in real time (**Paper IV**). Third, we determined the midpoint potentials of Fe-S clusters in the intact enzyme by means of electrochemical redox titration in the presence of mediators. In this study we used methyl viologen (E_m = - 455 mV), benzyl viologen (E_m = -130 mV). This

choice was based on the fact that these mediators do not interact with each other and provide fast equilibration between an electrode poised to a certain potential and protein in solution. The details of the equilibrium redox titration of iron-sulfur clusters can be found in **Paper III**.

4.5. Optical spectroscopy

In order to determine the midpoint potential of the flavin, we monitored changes of its optical spectra during redox titration of purified intact Complex I. The potential within the range from -500 to -40 mV was applied with steps of ± 20 mV for both oxidative and reductive titrations using a potentiostat. To accelerate equilibrium between the electrode and the solubilized protein a set of redox mediators was added as for titration in the EPR cell. Absorption of the oxidized flavin has a pronounced maximum at 450 nm characterized by a high extinction coefficient ($\epsilon_{450}=12.8$ mM⁻¹*cm⁻¹) (Massey and Palmer, 1962). Iron-sulfur clusters also absorb in this region, but their contribution to the spectra is small because of their low extinction coefficients ($\epsilon_{450}=4.1$ mM⁻¹*cm⁻¹) (Fu *et al.*, 1994; Mayhew *et al.*, 1969). Analysis of the redox changes at 450 nm reveals the potential area where the slope of the titration curve is maximal, which corresponds to oxidation/reduction of the flavin. The first derivative from this titration curve gives a set of small overlapped peaks, corresponding to the midpoint potential of the flavin. Details of the experiment and data treatment are described in **Papers III** and **VI**.

4.6. Homology modeling of Complex I from E. coli

In the present study we probed the role of several conserved amino acid residues in electron and proton transfer reactions catalysed by Complex I. In order to verify the position of selected residues and explain the effect of the site-directed mutagenesis we made a prediction of molecular structure for the subunits where the selected amino acids are located. We made the homology modeling of the NuoF and NuoE subunits from *E*. *coli* Complex I using as templates the sequences of homologues subunits (Nqo1, Nqo2) from *T. thermophilis* enzyme with resolved structure (PDB entry 2FUG, chains 1, 2) (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). A detailed description of the homology modeling can be found in **Paper VI**.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1. Purification of Complex I



Figure 3. Coomassie Blue-stained 10-20% SDS-PAGE gel of purified wild type Complex I (lane 2, $30 \mu g$) Lane 1: molecular mass markers (kDa).

The purification procedure for *E. coli* Complex I was developed on the basis of previously published protocols (Leif *et al.*, 1995; David *et al.*, 2002). Initially our protocol consisted of two chromatography steps on the weak anion-exchanger DEAE-Trisacril M (BioSepra) followed by centrifugation in a sucrose density gradient. Recently, the last step has been replaced by gel filtration on Superdex 200 prep grade (GE Healthcare), which has the same resolution as sucrose gradient but takes less time and is more reproducible. In contrast to published protocols (for example, Sazanov

et al., 2003; Flemming *et al.*, 2003) we decreased the detergent concentration during all chromatography steps, which resulted in an increased yield and higher ubiquinone reductase activity of the purified enzyme. The SDS–PAGE of the standard preparation of Complex I containing all subunits is shown in Figure 3. The assignment of the subunits is based on previously published studies (David *et al.*, 2002; Sazanov *et al.*, 2003) and our results from his-tag labeling of several subunits in wild type Complex I (our unpublished data).

5.2. Recovery of the native activity of purified Complex I

For a long time the main obstacle in research of Complex I has been the low ubiquinone reductase activity of the purified enzyme. The intactness of the enzyme can be estimated by the ratio between its artificial and natural activities (see 2.1.1 and 4.2). The turnover of purified bovine Complex I was found to be of 900 s⁻¹ and 30 s⁻¹ with FeCy and ubiquinone, respectively (Finel *et al.*, 1994). So, the ratio artificial/natural activity was 30. Almost the same value of 30-40 was obtained for purified *E. coli* Complex I (David *et al.*, 2002). However, this ratio is 1.5-2.5 for the membrane-bound either mitochondrial or bacterial Complex I (Prieur *et al.*, 2001; Sled' and Vinogradov, 1993). Recently it was concluded that the quinone-reductase activity of Complex I decreases during purification due to delipidation of this membrane protein (Dröse *et al.*, 2002; Sazanov *et al.*, 2003). For example, the turnover of quinone reduction catalyzed by purified *Y. lipolytica* and *E. coli* Complex I reached the values of 120 s⁻¹ (Dröse *et al.*, 2002) and 200 s⁻¹ (Sazanov *et al.*, 2003) after treatment with phospholipids. It is worth noting that lipids used for the recovery of the native activity of the protein were solubilized with detergent, which might also have an effect on the activity.

In **Paper I** we studied separately the effects of DDM and phospholipids on the quinone-reductase activity of isolated Complex I.

5.2.1. Activation of purified Complex I by detergent and phospholipids

DDM itself strongly stimulated quinone reductase activity of the purified Complex I. The dependence of the activity on detergent concentration had a bell shape with a maximum at 0.005%. At this concentration the total increase of the activity was over 10-fold from the value without added DDM into the assay. The higher concentrations of the detergent most probably caused the cleavage of the protein, which explains the descending part of the dependence curve. Incubation with the phospholipids resulted in an additional 2-fold increase of the quinone reductase activity, but in this case the optimal detergent concentration in the assay decreased to a lower value of 0.0025%. As a result the native activity of the isolated Complex I can reach the value of 8 or 18 µmol NADH mg⁻¹*min⁻¹ (corresponding to turnovers 130 and 300 s⁻¹ when calculated per flavin) in the assay with the detergent or after the activation, respectively. Since HAR reductase activity remained the same regardless the activation, of the order of 80-90 µmol of NADH oxidised by mg of protein per min, the ratios between the artificial and the native activities were found to be 10 and 4 for DDM and lipid treated enzyme, respectively. For the membrane-bound *E. coli* Complex I this value was determined as

1.5-2. The higher artificial/native activity ratio for purified activated enzyme could be explained by different properties of the natural substrate, Q8, and DQ, the artificial electron acceptor that was used for the activity measurements.

We explained the activation of the isolated Complex I by conformational rearrangements in the junction between the hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains. The binding of additional detergent and/or phospholipid molecules to the surface of the delipidated enzyme helps the protein to adopt its native state, which it has in the membrane. This might result in an increase of the accessibility of the quinone-binding site for the electron acceptor and/or improvement of the electron transfer from the N2 cluster to quinone. This premise is based on the analysis of EPR spectra (see below) and kinetic parameters of the activated enzyme. Neither different DDM concentrations nor the activation procedure changed the K_m of Complex I for ubiquinone. The activation by phospholipids resulted in only a 2-fold increase of V_{max} in comparison with DDM treated enzyme. To exclude the possibility that DDM or phospholipids altered the structure of the native DQ-binding site, we titrated the native activity of Complex I with rolliniastatin (Okun *et al.*, 1999; Tormo and Estornell, 2000) and found that affinity of this inhibitor did not change due to detergent and lipid binding.

5.2.2. Changes in EPR signals of Fe-S clusters

The paramagnetic properties of the Fe-S clusters are affected by immediate protein surroundings; therefore any structural rearrangements may modify the EPR signals of these cofactors. Since the activation of Complex I likely affects the junction between hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains, one might expect to see changes in the EPR signals from clusters residing in the connecting fragment. Indeed, the treatment of Complex I with lipids resulted in an increase in the amplitude of the signals from two fast-relaxing tetranuclear clusters. One of them can be simulated with parameters close to those reported for N2 in *E. coli* (Leif *et al.*, 1995). The other is most likely cluster N6b, which also resides in the connection fragment close to the membrane plane. The increase in these EPR signals could be due to positive shift of the values of the redox potentials of these clusters and/or magnetic decoupling of their spins from each other, or from another EPR-silent paramagnetic species.

5.3. Electron transfer kinetics in Complex I

The best way to reveal a molecular mechanism of the energy converting enzyme is to develop an ultra-fast kinetic teqnique allowing measurement single events comprising its catalytic cycle. The catalytic reaction of Complex I is extremely fast $(k_{cat}\sim 300s^{-1})$, so it can not be captured by conventional techniques.

Paper IV describes the resolved dynamics of the electron transfer through the chain of iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I by following the changes in their EPR signals upon reduction of the enzyme with NADH. We trapped the reaction in the time range from tens of microseconds to tens of milliseconds by freezing the sample using a specially developed ultra-fast freeze-quenching setup (Fig. 5 in **Paper IV**). Further EPR analysis of obtained samples revealed a time dependent order of the appearance of the signals derived from individual clusters. First, we observed an appearance of the signals from clusters N1a and N2. Then the features from other clusters started to appear in the spectra in addition to an increase in the N2 and N1a signals. Since the EPR spectra of [4Fe-4S] iron-sulfur clusters overlap we chose for the analysis only those clusters, which have well defined prominent signals. We analyzed the rate of the reduction of N1a, N1b, N2 and N6b centers. Their spectra were simulated with parameters which are very close to those reported elsewhere (Friedrich, 1998; Rasmussen *et al.*, 2001; Uhlmann and Friedrich, 2005; Yano *et al.*, 1999). The signal from N6b was simulated based on our own assignment described in **Paper II** and **III**.

The EPR spectra were collected from the samples frozen in time from 90 μ s to 8 ms after mixing the enzyme with NADH. The kinetic spectra of selected iron-sulfur clusters were fitted with simulated signals and their amplitudes were plotted against time (Fig. 4). The data analysis showed that the major fraction of clusters N1a and N2 undergoes a very fast reduction with a time constant (τ) of ~90 μ s, implying that these clusters have the highest redox potentials. This conclusion is in line with previously determined E_m for these centers (see Chapter 2.2.2) (Brandt, 2006; Friedrich, 1998; Leif *et al.*, 1995; Ohnishi *et al.*, 1998b; Uhlmann and Friedrich, 2005). A different behavior was observed for N1b and N6b clusters. The major fraction of these clusters was reduced slowly with the time constant of $\tau \sim 1.2$ ms.



Figure 4. Kinetics of the redox changes of clusters N1a, N1b, N2 and N6b after mixing of Complex I with NADH. The spin concentration of the individual FeS clusters was plotted against time and fitted with an exponential curve. Reproduced from **Paper** IV.

According to the electron tunneling theory (Moser et al., 2006) and determined distances between FeS centers in Complex I (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006) the electron transfer from FMN to N2 through the entire chain of iron-sulfur clusters is expected to proceed with a time constant of

~100 μ s. Since the observed rate is close to the theoretical one, it is obvious that the electron transfer in Complex I is unlikely to be coupled with other reactions such as proton transfer or conformational changes, otherwise the latter ones would slow down the process and result in a larger time constant. Since the rate of N1b and N6b reduction (τ ~1.2 ms) is several orders of magnitude lower than the rate of electron transfer between clusters, we concluded that the reduction of these clusters is limited by a single process – dissociation of the product NAD⁺ from the nucleotide-binding site, where it prevents entry for the next NADH molecule, needed for further reduction of the enzyme.

Using the method of an organic extraction of quinones we found that in our preparation each molecule of Complex I contains one tightly bound quinone. However, we did not observe formation of ubisemiquinone, which might imply a high thermodynamic barrier for ubiquinone reduction to semiquinone radical. Possible implications of these findings for the proton translocation mechanism are discussed in Chapter 5.6.

5.4. Determination of the midpoint potentials of the redox centers in Complex I

The characterization of the redox properties of the electron carriers in Complex I can provide a thermodynamic basis for an understanding of the mechanism of energy transduction by this enzyme. Nowadays, it is widely believed that all of them are isopotential with the E_m value of about – 250 mV (Hirst, 2005; Ingledew and Ohnishi, 1980; Ohnishi, 1998), except for N2 and N1a. The former has the highest redox potential among all clusters while the latter - the lowest, although the values of their potentials vary with the source of the enzyme (see Chapter 2.2.2). Moreover, not all iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I have a visible EPR signal after reduction with NADH (Ingledew *et al.*, 1980; Ohnishi, 1998). Thus far the reason for this phenomenon is unclear.

The recently resolved crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of *T. thermo-philus* Complex I (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006) showed that the distances between iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I are in the range of 10.7–16.9 Å (Fig. 2B). Considering that the dielectric constant inside the protein has a typical value of \leq 20 (Laurents *et al.*, 2003; Schutz and Warshel, 2001), one might predict an electrostatically induced negative cooperativity between iron-sulfur clusters upon reduction. This physical phenomenon can affect the redox properties of the clusters, for example, by decreasing the value of their midpoint potentials.

To date, the values of the midpoint potentials of the redox cofactors in Complex I were determined using submitochondrial particles (Ingledew and Ohnishi, 1980; Zwicker *et al.*, 2006), bacterial membranes (Leif *et al.*, 1995; Meinhardt *et al.*, 1987; Yano *et al.*, 2003), fragments of Complex I (Barker *et al.*, 2007) or overexpressed individual subunits (Yano *et al.*, 2003; Zu *et al.*, 2002). There is only one work where the intact isolated mitochondrial Complex I was used for redox titration of binuclear clusters (Ohnishi *et al.*, 1981). Any electrochemical or potentiometric titration of Complex I is a complicated task. Firstly, it should be done in strictly anaerobic conditions. Secondly, selected mediators should facilitate equilibrium between the protein and an electrode poised to a certain potential, but should not interact with each other or with the protein. Thirdly, there are only two methods, optical and EPR spectroscopy, by which one can follow the redox changes of the flavin and iron-sulfur clusters. In order to fulfil the listed

demands we used a special EPR and optical cells for continuous electrochemical redox titration of the redox active proteins. In this study, we for the first time presented titrations of purified intact bacterial Complex I. In order to keep the protein in a state close to that which it has in the membrane, we performed redox titration in the presence of lipids. In our potentiometric redox titrations we applied potential in a broad range from – 500 to – 140 mV (Paper III). Using optical redox titration we determined the midpoint potential of the flavin. It has a value of -350 mV (pH 7.5), that is in agreement with the value reported for the mitochondrial enzyme (Sled' et al., 1994). Redox properties of iron-sulfur clusters were studied using EPR spectroscopy. Using selective temperature and microwave power conditions we distinguished the signals of two binuclear clusters, N1a and N1b, from all the tetranuclear centers. Each binuclear Fe-S cluster has a well characterized spectrum that was used in its entity for the determination of the dependence of the spin concentration on the redox potential. In contrast, spectra of tetranuclear clusters are more complicated for decomposition, therefore the most prominent characteristic features, peaks and troughs, that belong to known [4Fe-4S] centers were used to obtain the titration curves (Fig. 4 in **Paper III**).

The analysis of the EPR redox titration showed that the majority of clusters have complicated titration curves that could not be fitted with a simple one-electron Nernstian curve but only with the sum of at least two of them (see for example Fig. 5 in **Paper III**) (Table 2). These clusters are N1b, N3(7), N6b, N2 and one tetranuclear cluster, temporarily designated Nx, which had not been detected previously. Only the binuclear cluster N1a had a titration curve with a very clear one-electron transition. Its midpoint potential was determined to have a value of about – 235 mV, which was close to that published for *E. coli* enzyme by Leif and co-workers (Leif *et al.*, 1995). However, in the mitochondrial counterpart of Complex I binuclear cluster N1a has a much lower midpoint potential of about – 400 mV (Ohnishi, 1998; Zu *et al.*, 2002). Due to such a low E_m value center N1a could not be EPR detected in the eukaryotic Complex I reduced with NADH. The reason for such a difference in redox properties between corresponding clusters from bacterial and mitochondrial enzyme is not yet clear.

The titration of a very low potential Nx cluster was fitted with a one-electron Nernstian curve with an $E_{\rm m}$ ~ – 365 mV. Since the spin concentration of this cluster was estimated as one half in comparison to the other well characterized and determined

tetranuclear centers, we concluded that cluster Nx could have another redox transition, possibly at even lower potentials, which could not be achieved in our study. At slightly higher potential ranges we observed a signal of small amplitude from another, yet unidentified, tetranuclear cluster. This cluster is a very fast-relaxing one, since it could be seen at a temperature lower than 10 K and high microwave power. The titration of the prominent band in its spectra had a single transition with an $E_{\rm m} \sim -330$ mV. This signal has not yet been attributed to a particular iron-sulfur center in Complex I. A summary of our findings is presented in Table 2.

Table 2

redox center	$E_{\rm m}$ (mV)	The basis of titration profiles	g _{xyz}	temperature (K)	microwave power (mW)	
FMN	-350					
	$(n=2)^{a}$					
			2Fe-2S ^b			
N1a	-235	simulated spectrum	1.920, 1.950, 2.00			
N1b	-320, -245 simulat	aimulated anostrum	1.930, 1.938,	45	2	
INIU		simulated spectrum	2.021			
			4Fe-4S ^b			
N2	-300, -200	1.895, 2.045	1.985, 1.904,	10	10	
112			2.045			
N6b	-315, -235	1.877, 2.089	1.887, 1.894,		2, 10	
1100			2.089			
N3 or N7	-315	1.956 minus 1.947	1.90, 1.947, 2.046		2, 10	
Ny	-365 1.932, 2.022	1 022 2 022	1.931, 1.935,		10	
INA		2.022		10		
N4 or N5	-330	1.929	1.929	5.5	10	
^a Optical titration. ^b EPR titration						

Electrochemical and EPR spectral properties of the redox groups of Complex I from *E. coli*. Reproduced from **Paper III**.

We explained the complicated titration curves of the iron-sulfur clusters in terms of intrinsic electrostatic interactions between them in the entire Complex I during reduction of the protein under equilibrium conditions. This phenomenon has important implications. First, negative repulsion between neighboring clusters results in a shift of their midpoint potentials to more negative values. The value of the shift(s) for a particular cluster is determined by: 1) the number of neighboring clusters, 2) their midpoint redox potentials, 3) distances between them and 4) dielectric constant in the protein. These factors together determine the energy of interaction between clusters. In order to illustrate the effect of electrostatic repulsion between neighbouring redox groups on the value of their midpoint potentials we developed a model that considers interaction between clusters N3, N1b, N4 and N5 located in the middle of the internal electron transport chain of Complex I during the reduction of the protein under equilibrium conditions (**Paper III**). Second, the fact that some iron-sulfur clusters in Complex I are EPR-invisible could be explained by the negative repulsion from neigbouring redox active centers that strongly decreases their E_m values. In other words, some clusters cannot be reduced by conventional reductants in order to become EPR detectable.

5.5. The role of the conserved amino acid residues in the NADH- and quinone-binding sites

In the present work we were interested in examining the conserved amino acid residues of Complex I that are involved in the reactions of electron and proton transfer. In this respect we studied the role of invariant glutamate 95 from the NADH-binding site (**Paper VI**) and conserved arginine 274, histidines 224 and 228 located in the vicinity of the quinone-binding site of Complex I (**Paper II**).

5.5.1. The role of Glu95 in the process of substrate binding

The flavin-binding cavity in the Nqo1 subunit (NuoF in *E. coli*) has a very prominent feature – the presence of two invariant amino acid residues, glutamate 97 and tyrosine 180 that are exposed to the solvent and located in the vicinity of the FMN. It was suggested that they might be involved in the binding of NADH through interaction with its nicotinamide moiety (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). For Tyr180 this suggestion is in line with the results of the analysis of the double mutation Y204C/C206G in human

Complex I (Y204 is the counterpart of Y180 in *T. thermophilus*) which causes severe symptoms (Benit *et al.*, 2001) that could be explained by interaction of these residues with FMN or/and NADH, but no such proof was available for Glu97. In order to assess its function we mutated the correspondent glutamate 95 in the NuoF subunit of *E. coli* Complex I for glutamine.

If anionic Glu95 does indeed participate in the interaction with the nicotinamide moiety of the nucleotide, then the removal of its negative charge from the NADH-binding



Figure 5. Conserved negatively charged amino acid residues surrounding the FMN in the modeled NuoF subunit of *E. coli* Complex I. Atomic distances are represented in Å. Structures are drawn using the VMD program (Humphrey *et al.*, 1996). Reproduced from **Paper VI**.

site would decrease affinity to the reaction product, NAD⁺, since the latter carries a positive charge on its pyridine ring. However, the opposite effect was observed. The affinity for NAD⁺ was increased 2.4-fold in the mutated enzyme in comparison to the wild type. The mutation also caused a 2-fold increase in K_m^{NADH} . In order to explain the effects of this mutation one should take into account that at neutral pH the overall charge of NAD⁺ is negative because of the two negative phosphate groups. We therefore suggested that the main role of Glu95 is not in the binding of nucleotide, but rather in the

electrostatic repulsion of its negatively charged phosphates. This process facilitates release of the product NAD^+ and, as a result, accelerates turnover of Complex I. This is in line with the finding that the affinity of the mutated Complex I for ADP-ribose, which differs from NAD^+ by the absence of the positively charged nicotinamide moiety, was increased 7.5-times in comparison to the wild type enzyme (**Paper VI**).

Glutamate 95 is one of four conserved negatively charged amino acid residues surrounding the flavin at a distance of 4-6 Å from its isoalloxazine ring (Fig. 5), each of which contributes to the overall 130 mV negative shift in the redox potential of the protein-bound flavin in comparison to the free FMN ($E_m = -220$ mV, pH 7.5) in solution (see also Chapter 2.2.1). Optical redox titration of the purified E95Q mutant showed that the midpoint potential of the flavin shifted to positive values by 40 mV and resulted in a value of -310 mV (versus -350 mV in the wild type as determined in **Paper III**). Therefore, we postulated that another role of the negatively charged glutamate is to decrease the midpoint redox potential of the primary electron acceptor in Complex I.

5.5.2. The role of conserved Arg274 and His224, His228 from the NuoCD subunit in the final step of electron transfer

According to the hypothesis of the conformational driven coupling (Zickermann et al., 2003) (see Chapter 2.5) the amino acid residues surrounding the N2 cluster have a critical role in energy transduction. The role of several conserved amino acid residues located in the vicinity of N2 and the proposed quinone-binding site was probed by site-directed mutagenesis of the 49kDa subunit of Complex I from Yarrowia lipolytica (Brandt et al., 2005; Tocilescu et al., 2007). Two conserved histidines, H91 and H95 were found to be essential for the ubiquinone reductase activity, but their replacement did not affect the EPR spectra of N2, an immediate electron donor for ubiquinone (Grgic et al., 2004). These histidine residues are located at the edge of the "funnel" formed by the 49 kDa subunit (the Nqo4 in T. thermophilus, the NuoCD in E. coli) and the PSST subunit (the Nqo6 in *T. thermophilus*, the NuoB in *E. coli*), where it was postulated that binding of the quinone head group occurred (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006). Another highly conserved residue in the 49 kDa subunit (the NuoCD in E. coli), R141, was thought to reside close to N2 based on the analysis of the conserved structural fold of the [NiFe] dehydrogenase from which most probably the quinone-reducing part of the connecting fragment of Complex I had been evolved (Kashani-Poor et al., 2001). The recently resolved structure of the hydrophilic domain of T. thermophilus Complex I (Sazanov and Hinchliffe, 2006) showed that the distance between cluster N2 and R141 (R84 in *T. thermophilus*) is only 5 Å. The replacement of R141 with alanine, methionine and lysine was reported to cause the loss of the N2 signal in the EPR spectra of Complex I reduced with NADH and dithionite, although the quinone reductase activity in the mutants remained significant (Grgic et al., 2004). On the basis of these results it was suggested that the N2 cluster was lost due to the mutation and cluster that should reside at a distance of ca. 5 Å from N2 became the immediate electron donor for the quinone. The best candidate for such a role could be cluster N6b. However, crystallographic data shows that the distance between N2 and N6b is 10.5 Å (PDB entry 2FUG), which means

that N6b is removed from quinone at approx. 22.5 Å and therefore could not be an efficient immediate electron donor for it.

Since the particular features of Complex I might be organism specific, we made the mutations of corresponding amino acid residues, R274, H224, H228 from the NuoCD subunit of *E. coli* Complex I in order to reveal their relevance for the function of the enzyme.

The H224A and H228A (H91 and H95 in Y. lipolytica) mutations did not affect the expression level of the enzyme, but caused decrease of the ubiquinone reductase activity by 50 % in comparison with the wild type. The reduction of ubiquinone by these mutants was specific, since their affinity to rolliniastatin did not change. Comparison of EPR spectra of wild type enzyme and these mutants showed no difference in the signals of binuclear and tetranuclear iron-sulfur clusters. These results showed that H224 and H228 are important for ubiquinone reduction but their presence is not an obligatory requirement. Mutation of arginine 274 for alanine caused more dramatic effects than mutations of histidines. Quinone reductase activity catalyzed by the R274A mutant dropped significantly, although the affinity of this enzyme to rolliniastatin, IC_{50} , was approximately the same as in wild type, in the range of 1.4-2.4 nM. Analysis of the EPR spectra of the isolated mutated enzyme reduced with NADH showed the loss of a signal at g-values corresponding to the N2 spectrum, which was in agreement with the previously reported data on a corresponding mutation in Y. lipolytica (Grgic et al., 2004) Complex I. Further reduction of the mutant with dithionite at alkaline pH ($E_m = -500$ mV) in the presence of methyl viologen caused the appearance of a signal similar to that of N2 (with the parameters $g_{xyz} = 1.900$, 1.901, 2.045) but slightly broader and with smaller amplitude. Unexpectedly, the reduction with dithionite also caused an increase in the signal from another fast-relaxing tetranuclear iron-sulfur cluster. This signal with parameters $g_{xyz} = 1.889$, 1.905, 2.087 we assigned to N6b. Since the distance between the counterpart of R274 in T. thermophilus and N6b is 8 Å (PDB entry 2FUG) and the removal of the positive charge could affect the cluster located at a distance less than 10 Å, cluster N6b was suggested to be the best candidate for such an assignment. In addition, it is also possible that in the entire enzyme the distance between arginine 274 from the NuoCD subunit and cluster N6b from NuoI could be even shorter than 8 Å, as determined based on crystal structure of the hydrophilic domain of T. thermophilus Complex I,

because the connecting fragment with part of the postulated quinone-binding site could be distorted upon fragmentation of the enzyme.

We explained the re-appearance of the signal from N2 in the mutant after the reduction with dithionite by a downshift of its redox potential caused by the removal of the neighbouring positive charge. Hence arginine274 is one of the amino acids in the vicinity of N2 which maintain the high redox potential of this cluster.

We also tested the effect of the mutations on the proton-pumping activity of Complex I reconstituted into liposomes by monitoring $\Delta \psi$ generation driven by NADH:quinone oxidoreduction. Electric potential was generated by all mutated enzymes, suggesting that none of the three amino acid residues, R274, H224, or H228, are involved in proton pumping directly.

5.6. Proposed mechanism of proton pumping by Complex I

Presently, three of the distantly located membrane subunits, NuoM, NuoN and NuoL, are considered to be involved directly in proton translocation across the membrane. This assumption is based on the relation of these subunits to a family of proton/cation antiporters (Hiramatsu *et al.*, 1998; Mathiesen and Hagerhall, 2002). However, there is no hypothesis which satisfactory explains how the free energy released during quinone reduction is transferred at distance of 60-100 Å from the quinone-binding site to the distal part of the membrane domain.

We found that conserved amino acid residues from the NuoN and NuoM subunits and their homologues in $H^+/K(Na)^+$ antiporters share a common pattern (Fig. 1 in **Paper V**). Prediction of its membrane topology revealed one very prominent feature – the presence of two lysines located within the membrane dielectric (Fig. 6). Such localization of charged amino acid residues is rare in membrane proteins. Site-directed mutagenesis of the conserved lysines, K217 and K247, from the NuoN subunit showed that they are essential for the enzyme activity (Amarneh and Vik, 2003).

In order to verify the role of corresponding lysines from the NuoM subunit, K234 and K265, we used site-directed mutagenesis (**Paper V**). We found that lysine 234 is essential for quinone reductase activity. Furthermore, we found that not only the charge is important, but also the properties of the side chain of the amino acid, since the

replacement of K234 by arginine resulted in an inactive enzyme as in the case of K234A mutation.



Figure 6. Predicted membrane topology of the highly conserved residues comprising the common pattern found in the NuoN and NuoM subunits. Black crosses indicate residues, which are found to be essential for quinone reductase activity; grey crosses indicate residues, the replacement of which to alanine yielded only partial loss of quinone reductase activity. Results of site-directed mutagenesis of the NuoN subunit are published in (Amarneh and Vik, 2003). Reproduced from **Paper V**.

The same results were obtained by Torres-Bacete and co-workers (Torres-Bacete et al., 2007). In contrast, the replacement of the corresponding lysine from the NuoN subunit, K217, by arginine resulted only in partial inactivation. The results of the replacement of the second conserved lysine from the NuoM subunit, K265, by alanine showed that it is not crucial for proton pumping and the activity of the enzyme, whereas the positive charge of the counterpart of this lysine in the NuoN subunit, K247, was found to be critical for enzyme activity. Substitution of this lysine for cysteine resulted in complete loss of the activity while K247R mutation had a minor effect. Thus one can conclude that in both NuoN and NuoM there is at least one conserved lysine essential for the activity and proton pumping by Complex I. Furthermore, these lysines are likely to be charge-uncompensated since neither NuoM nor NuoN appears to contain conserved acidic amino acid residues adjacent to them. Glutamate 133 from the NuoN subunit is unlikely to interact with one of the intramembrane lysines in this subunit since it is not critical for enzyme activity (Amarneh and Vik, 2003). We probed the role of the corresponding glutamate, E144, from the NuoM subunit by site-directed mutagenesis. Substitution of this glutamate for aspartate, E144D, had no effect on Complex I activity while substitution by hydrophobic uncharged alanine, E144A, resulted in complete loss of quinone reductase activity. However, according to the membrane topology predicted for the above-mentioned common pattern shared by three membrane subunits glutamate 144 from NuoM is unlikely to be adjacent to lysine 234 and is therefore hardly a suitable partner for electrostatic interactions with the latter.

However, one cannot exclude another possibility that lysines from NuoN and NuoM might interact with the conserved acidic amino acid residues from another membrane subunit(s). It was found that uncompensated intramembrane Glu81 and Asp79 from NuoA (Kao *et al.*, 2004a) and two glutamates from NuoK are essential for the activity of Complex I (Kao *et al.*, 2005b; Kervinen *et al.*, 2004). At least two of the mentioned acidic residues could be good candidates for an ion interaction with conserved lysines from the NuoN subunit. In contrast, for the NuoM subunit such a possibility is deemed to be unlikely, since it was suggested that it is located in the distal part of the membrane domain (Sazanov, 2000; Baranova *et al.*, 2007b) and appears not to have extensive contacts with other subunits, except for NuoL (Baranova *et al.*, 2007a).

We also found that other membrane subunits, NuoL and NuoH, are likely to contain conserved lysines in their transmembrane helices. Thus one can assume that the hydrophobic domain contains at least four conserved intramembrane lysines arranged in a row and aligned parallel to the membrane surface. The first lysine in this "chain" is located in the NuoH, the second in the NuoN, the third in the NuoM and the last one in the NuoL subunit. This assumption allowed us to propose a tentative principle governing redox-coupled proton pumping by Complex I (Paper V). Recently, Baranova and co-workers (Baranova et al., 2007b) suggested that each of three membrane subunits, NuoN, NuoM and NuoL, could pump one proton, driven by long-range conformational changes. In contrast, we proposed that proton translocation by each of these subunits takes place through protonation and deprotonation of the key intramembrane lysine, which additionally can switch the orientation of its side chain towards the inside and outside of the membrane for proton uptake/release. An example of such an alternative-access mechanism has been previously described for the functionally important protonatable glutamate in membrane H⁺/lactose symporter (Mirza et al., 2006) and aspartates in Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter NhaA (Hunte *et al.*, 2005). Regarding the principle of proton pumping by Complex I an important question can be raised about the state of the key intramembrane lysines since they appear to be electrostatically uncompensated. The predicted position of these residues in the low dielectric core of the membrane is indeed energetically unfavorable. Close inspection of the sequence details and predicted membrane topology of NuoH, NuoN, NuoM and NuoL showed the presence of several unconserved acidic amino acid residues in each of the subunits, some of which may even be located in the same transmembrane helices where the key lysines reside, but the distances are not favorable for the formation of salt bridges. On the other hand, charge-uncompensated lysine could be placed in the middle of the membrane dielectric in a non-polar environment in case it is deprotonated. If, however, the intramembrane lysine is protonated it could be located at the bottom of a narrow "funnel" or "channel" providing protonic access to the cytoplasmic/periplasmic side of the membrane. It is also possible that both of these suggested states of the key lysines occur during the operation of Complex I, and are altered by binding/reduction of the quinone in the active site. As an example, binding of the substrate might lead to subtle conformational changes in the first proton translocating subunit (NuoH), in its small part above the key lysine, which is located in a non-polar environment and therefore deprotonated. These rearrangements could result in the formation/opening of a temporary narrow "funnel" providing access for water molecules from the cytoplasmic side of the membrane to this lysine, in which way it may become protonated. The latter event might result in charge imbalance and cause two processes. First, in order to release a proton later to the periplasmic side, the first proton translocating subunit might undergo small structural rearrangements resulting in re-orientation of the side chain of the protonated lysine towards the periplasmic side, thereby closing the temporary cytoplasmic "funnel" and opening of another one directed towards the periplasm. An example of such small rearrangements resulting in opening/closing of the channels and change in the orientation of side chains of the key glutamates towards the periplasm or cytoplasm has been described for Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter NhaA (Hunte *et al.*, 2005). Second, the charge imbalance on the first lysine and structural rearrangements in its vicinity might cause deprotonation of the second lysine in the row (located in the NuoN subunit), which is assumed to be protonated and to have access to the periplasmic side of the membrane (see below). Deprotonation of this lysine could be accompanied by closing of the temporary "funnel" connecting this lysine with the periplasm in a way that the second lysine is left in a non-polar environment in a deprotonated state. Release of the proton by the second lysine and charge imbalance caused by this process in turn could stimulate small conformation rearrangements above the third deprotonated lysine (located in the NuoM subunit) resulting in formation/opening of another temporary "funnel" through which a proton can be acquired from the cytoplasmic side of the membrane in a way described for the first key lysine. Then the process can propagate further along the membrane domain of the enzyme. It is also worth noting that the structural rearrangements in the proton pumping subunits prompted by quinone binding and reduction should be small in order to maintain a high turnover of Complex I. The described explanation of how the protein can tolerate charge-uncompensated lysines in the membrane dielectric is rather speculative and assumes that two of the four key lysines in the membrane domain of Complex I should be deprotonated and two – protonated in an "as prepared" enzyme. The resolved crystal structure of the entire enzyme can verify whether that is the case or not. However, there are two observations that might be considered to be in line with the proposed principle. First, FT-IR studies on *E. coli* Complex I suggested that the redox transitions of the flavin and iron-sulfur clusters induce conformational change of the protein (Hellwig *et al.*, 2000). Second, the electron microscopy images of the frozen-hydrated crystals of the hydrophobic domain of *E. coli* Complex I (Baranova *et al.*, 2007a) revealed low density areas in the 8 Å resolution projection map that could correspond to the narrow cytoplasmicaly oriented "funnels" above the key lysines.

Ubiquinone binding and reduction likely take place in the proximal part of the membrane domain, formed by the small NuoA, NuoJ, NuoK and NuoH subunits, adjacent to the bottom part of the hydrophilic domain where N2 resides. Thus, the cluster of these subunits could be considered a "coupling domain" which is responsible for transferring free energy from the redox event into the more distant parts of the membrane arm, probably for translocation of protons. We proposed that reduction of the quinone causes a compensatory increase in the pK_a of the key lysine in the NuoH subunit. As a result the first intramembrane lysine becomes protonated. Uptake of the first proton electrostatically affects the pK_a of the next lysine in the row, in the NuoN subunit, causing its deprotonation. Then electrostatic polarization is propagated even further and consequently shifts the pK_a of the following lysines, located in the NuoM and NuoL subunits. After this, the first phase of the electrostatic polarization accompanied by possible changes in the orientation of key lysines is completed (see above). In order to return the protein into the initial state, "input" state, the second phase of polarization may be initiated by the subunit NuoL, in which case the process proceeds in reverse direction, towards the "coupling domain", and finally resultes in neutralization of the negative

charge of the hydroquinone anion (see below) by uptake of the second substrate proton. The schematic representation of the proposed principle is shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7. A tentative formulation of the principle governing redox-coupled proton pumping in Complex I

In our studies of the electron transfer kinetics in Complex I using the freeze-quench approach we observed full reduction of the N2 cluster, but no ubisemiquinone was detected. It is worth noting, that the extremely fast relaxing ubisemiquinone radical magnetically interacting with N2 had been detected only in submitochondrial particles and in the presence of high membrane potential (Ohnishi, 1998; Yano *et al.*, 2005). The latter condition might indicate instability of the radical and thus low redox potential of the Q/Q^- couple. If so, this may have important implications for the proton translocating mechanism. Our failure to detect a signal from semireduced quinone despite full reduction of the N2 cluster could mean that the population of the quinone radical is too small to be detected. Such a low concentration of semiquinone in equilibrium with the reduced center N2 could indicate that the midpoint potential of the Q/Q^{-} couple is at least 100 mV more negative than that of cluster N2 (i.e. less than -300 mV) and thus close to the E_m of NADH/NAD⁺ couple. In this case it may happen that the delivery of the first electron from NADH to ubuquinone is not accompanied by any drop of energy whereas the transfer of the second one occurs across a large potential drop and results in release of free energy sufficient to drive translocation of four protons across the membrane. If this is the case, then quinone should be reduced 'virtually' in one step to hydroquinone anion instead of ubisemiquinone, which would explain our failure to detect semiquinone radical.

The suggested mechanism of the energy transduction by Complex I could be classified as direct since quinone reduction is coupled with proton translocation via electrostatic interactions between protonable amino acid residues and conformational changes that are restricted to the switching orientation of the lysines in the membrane dielectric towards the inside or outside of the membrane.

6. SUMMARY

In the present study we applied a set of different methods to study the electron and proton transfer reactions in Complex I from *Escherichia coli*.

We established a conventional protocol for purification of the enzyme and determined the factors, which affect the measurement of the native quinone-reductase activity of the enzyme.

A significant achievement was the experiment where we monitored distribution of two electrons within Complex I upon reduction with NADH using an ultra-fast kinetic technique allowing measurement of electron transfer in the µs time scale. We found that the N2 cluster is reduced in a time close to that predicted by the electron transfer theory, which means that the electron transfer through the chain of Fe-S clusters in Complex I is unlikely to be coupled to proton transfer directly or to conformational changes in the protein.

In this work we have for the first time presented redox titrations of the intact purified bacterial Complex I. We found that clusters N1b, N3(7), N6b, N2 and one tetranuclear cluster, temporarily designated Nx, have complicated titration curves that could be fitted only with the sum of at least two one-electron Nernstian curves. We explained such behavior in terms of electrostatic repulsion between Fe-S clusters within the protein upon reduction under equilibrium conditions. Another manifestation of this phenomenon was a negative shift of the midpoint potentials of the clusters located in the middle of the intramolecular electron transport chain of Complex I

We also studied the role of several conserved amino acid residues in the electron transfer reaction of Complex I. One of them, Glu95 from the NuoF subunit, is located in the NADH-binding site. We found that the negative charge of this residue is needed for repulsion of the product, NAD⁺, from the catalytic site, and thus for acceleration of the turnover of Complex I. The other three amino acid residues studied, Arg274, His224 and His228 from the NuoCD subunit, are located in the proximity of the N2 cluster and quinone-binding site, respectively. We demonstrated that histidines are important for quinone reductase activity, but not obligatory, while the positive charge of arginine is critical. It is likely involved in maintaining the high redox potential of N2. Finally, we found that several membrane subunits share a common pattern of highly conserved amino acid residues, characterized by a very prominent feature – the presence of a few lysines within the membrane dielectric. We probed the role of such lysines in the NuoM subunit and suggested they are involved in the proton translocation process. Based on the experimental data, we tentatively postulated and discussed a principle which we think governing the redox-coupled proton pumping in Complex I.

7. REFERENCES

- Abdrakhmanova, A., Zickermann, V., Bostina, M., Radermacher, M., Schägger, H., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2004) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1658*, 148-156.
- Abdrakhmanova, A., Zwicker, K., Kerscher, S., Zickermann, V., and Brandt, U. (2006) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757*, 1676-1682.
- Ahlers, P. M., Zwicker, K., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2000) J. Biol. Chem. 275, 23577-23582.
- Akerman, K. E., and Wikström, M. K. (1976) FEBS Lett. 68, 191-197.
- Albracht, S. P. (1993) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1144, 221-224.
- Amarneh, B., and Vik, S. B. (2003) *Biochemistry* 42, 4800-4808.
- Anraku, Y. (1988) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 57, 101-132.
- Bai, Y., and Attardi, G. (1998) EMBO J. 17, 4848-4858.
- Balaban, R. S., Nemoto, S., and Finkel, T. (2005) Cell 120, 483-495.
- Baranova, E. A., Holt, P. J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2007a) J. Mol. Biol. 366, 140-154.
- Baranova, E. A., Morgan, D. J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2007b) J. Struct. Biol. 159, 238-242.
- Barker, C. D., Reda, T., and Hirst, J. (2007) *Biochemistry* 46, 3454-3464.
- Bashford, C. L., and Thayer, W. S. (1977) J. Biol. Chem. 252, 8459-8463.
- Benit, P., Chretien, D., Kadhom, N., Lonlay-Debeney, P., Cormier-Daire, V., Cabral, A., Peudenier, S., Rustin, P., Munnich, A., and Rotig, A. (2001) Am. J. Hum. Genet. 68, 1344-1352.
- Bernardo, S. D., Yano, T., and Yagi, T. (2000) Biochemistry 39, 9411-9418.
- Blattner, F. R., Plunkett, G., Bloch, C. A., Perna, N. T., Burland, V., Riley, M.,
 Collado-Vides, J., Glasner, J. D., Rode, C. K., Mayhew, G. F., Gregor, J., Davis, N.
 W., Kirkpatrick, H. A., Goeden, M. A., Rose, D. J., Mau, B., and Shao, Y. (1997)
 Science 277, 1453-1474.
- Bogachev, A. V., Murtazina, R. A., and Skulachev, V. P. (1996) J. Bacteriol. 178, 6233-6237.
- Bongaerts, J., Zoske, S., Weidner, U., and Unden, G. (1995) *Mol. Microbiol.* 16, 521-534.
- Bradley, L. H., and Swenson, R. P. (1999) Biochemistry 38, 12377-12386.
- Brand, M. D., Affourtit, C., Esteves, T. C., Green, K., Lambert, A. J., Miwa, S., Pakay, J. L., and Parker, N. (2004) *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 37, 755-767.
- Brand, M. D., Reynafarje, B., and Lehninger, A. L. (1976) J. Biol. Chem. 251, 5670-5679.
- Brandt, U. (2006) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 75, 69-92.
- Brandt, U., Abdrakhmanova, A., Zickermann, V., Galkin, A., Dröse, S., Zwicker, K., and Kerscher, S. (2005) *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 33, 840-844.
- Brandt, U., Kerscher, S., Dröse, S., Zwicker, K., and Zickermann, V. (2003) *FEBS Lett.* 545, 9-17.
- Braun, M., Bungert, S., and Friedrich, T. (1998) Biochemistry 37, 1861-1867.
- Calhoun, M. W., and Gennis, R. B. (1993) J. Bacteriol. 175, 3013-3019.
- Cardol, P., Matagne, R. F., and Remacle, C. (2002) J. Mol. Biol. 319, 1211-1221.
- Carroll, J., Fearnley, I. M., Skehel, J. M., Shannon, R. J., Hirst, J., and Walker, J. E. (2006) *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 32724-32727.

- Carroll, J., Shannon, R. J., Fearnley, I. M., Walker, J. E., and Hirst, J. (2002) J. Biol. *Chem.* 277, 50311-50317.
- Cecchini, G. (2003) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 72, 77-109.
- Chen, S., and Guillory, R. J. (1981) J. Biol. Chem. 256, 8318-8323.
- Chen, S., and Guillory, R. J. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5124-5131.
- Clark, W. M. (1960) Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore
- Crofts, A. R. (2004) Annu. Rev. Physiol 66, 689-733.
- David, P., Baumann, M., Wikström, M., and Finel, M. (2002) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1553, 268-278.
- De Jong, A. M., and Albracht, S. P. (1994) *European Journal of Biochemistry 222*, 975-982.
- De Jong, A. M., Kotlyar, A. B., and Albracht, S. P. (1994) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1186, 163-171.
- Degli Esposti, M. (1998) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1364, 222-235.
- Degli Esposti, M., Ghelli, A., Ratta, M., Cortes, D., and Estornell, E. (1994) *Biochem.* J. 301 (Pt 1), 161-167.
- Di Bernardo, S., and Yagi, T. (2001) FEBS Lett. 508, 385-388.
- Djafarzadeh, R., Kerscher, S., Zwicker, K., Radermacher, M., Lindahl, M., Schägger, H., and Brandt, U. (2000) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1459, 230-238.
- Dooijewaard, G., and Slater, E. C. (1976) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 440, 1-15.
- Draper, R. D., and Ingraham, L. L. (1968) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 125, 802-808.
- Dröse, S., Zwicker, K., and Brandt, U. (2002) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1556, 65-72.
- Duarte, M., Populo, H., Videira, A., Friedrich, T., and Schulte, U. (2002) *Biochem. J.* 364, 833-839.
- Dupuis, A., Peinnequin, A., Chevallet, M., Lunardi, J., Darrouzet, E., Pierrard, B., Procaccio, V., and Issartel, J. P. (1995) *Gene 167*, 99-104.
- Dupuis, A., Prieur, I., and Lunardi, J. (2001) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 33, 159-168
- Dutton, P. L., Moser, C. C., Sled', V. D., Daldal, F., and Ohnishi, T. (1998) Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1364, 245-257.
- Esterhazy, D., King, M. S., Yakovlev, G., and Hirst, J. (2008) *Biochemistry* 47, 3964-3971.
- Fearnley, I. M., Carroll, J., Shannon, R. J., Runswick, M. J., Walker, J. E., and Hirst, J. (2001) J. Biol. Chem. 276, 38345-38348.
- Fearnley, I. M., Carroll, J., and Walker, J. E. (2007) Methods Mol. Biol. 357, 103-125.
- Fearnley, I. M., and Walker, J. E. (1992) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1140, 105-134.
- Fecke, W., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Weiss, H. (1994) Eur. J. Biochem. 220, 551-558.
- Finel, M., Majander, A. S., Tyynela, J., Dejong, A. M. P., Albracht, S. P. J., and Wikström, M. (1994) *Eur. J.Biochem.* 226, 237-242.
- Finel, M., Skehel, J. M., Albracht, S. P., Fearnley, I. M., and Walker, J. E. (1992) *Biochemistry 31*, 11425-11434.
- Flemming, D., Schlitt, A., Spehr, V., Bischof, T., and Friedrich, T. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 47602-47609.
- Friedrich, T. (1998) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1364, 134-146.
- Friedrich, T. (2001) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 33, 169-177.
- Friedrich, T., and Scheide, D. (2000) FEBS Lett. 479, 1-5.
- Friedrich, T., Steinmuller, K., and Weiss, H. (1995) FEBS Lett. 367, 107-111.

- Friedrich, T., van Heek, P., Leif, H., Ohnishi, T., Forche, E., Kunze, B., Jansen, R., Trowitzsch-Kienast, W., Hofle, G., Reichenbach, H. (1994) *Eur. J. Biochem. 219*, 691-698.
- Friedrich, T., Weidner, U., Nehls, U., Fecke, W., Schneider, R., and Weiss, H. (1993) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 25, 331-337.
- Friedrich, T., and Weiss, H. (1997) J. Theor. Biol. 187, 529-540.
- Fu, W., Jack, R. F., Morgan, T. V., Dean, D. R., and Johnson, M. K. (1994) Biochemistry 33, 13455–13463.
- Galkin, A., and Brandt, U. (2005) J. Biol. Chem. 280, 30129-30135.
- Galkin, A., Dröse, S., and Brandt, U. (2006) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 1575-1581.
- Galkin, A. S., Grivennikova, V. G., and Vinogradov, A. D. (1999) *FEBS Lett.* 451, 157-161.
- Gavrikova, E. V., Grivennikova, V. G., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Vinogradov, A. D. (1995) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1230*, 23-30.
- Ghisla, S., and Massey, V. (1989) Eur. J. Biochem. 181, 1-17.
- Gong, X., Xie, T., Yu, L., Hesterberg, M., Scheide, D., Friedrich, T., and Yu, C. A. (2003) *J.Biol.Chem.* 278, 25731-25737.
- Green, G. N., Kranz, R. G., Lorence, R. M., and Gennis, R. B. (1984) *J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 7994-7997.
- Green, G. N., Lorence, R. M., and Gennis, R. B. (1986) Biochemistry 25, 2309-2314.
- Grgic, L., Zwicker, K., Kashani-Poor, N., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2004) *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 21193-21199.
- Grigorieff, N. (1998) J. Mol. Biol. 277, 1033-1046.
- Guenebaut, V., Schlitt, A., Weiss, H., Leonard, K., and Friedrich, T. (1998) *J. Mol. Biol.* 276, 105-112.
- Guenebaut, V., Vincentelli, R., Mills, D., Weiss, H., and Leonard, K. R. (1997) J. Mol. Biol. 265, 409-418.
- Hatefi, Y., HAAVIK, A. G., and GRIFFITHS, D. E. (1962) J. Biol. Chem. 237, 1676-1680.
- Hellwig, P., Scheide, D., Bungert, S., Mantele, W., and Friedrich, T. (2000) *Biochemistry* 39, 10884-10891.
- Herter, S. M., Schiltz, E., and Drews, G. (1997) Eur. J. Biochem. 246, 800-808.
- Hinchliffe, P., Carroll, J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2006) Biochemistry 45, 4413-4420.
- Hiramatsu, T., Kodama, K., Kuroda, T., Mizushima, T., and Tsuchiya, T. (1998) J. Bacteriol. 180, 6642-6648.
- Hirst, J. (2005) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 33, 525-529.
- Hirst, J., Carroll, J., Fearnley, I. M., Shannon, R. J., and Walker, J. E. (2003) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1604*, 135-150.
- Holt, P. J., Morgan, D. J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43114-43120.
- Horsefield, R., Iwata, S., and Byrne, B. (2004) Curr. Protein Pept. Sci. 5, 107-118.
- Hui, Y. H., Rupprecht, J. K., Liu, Y. M., Anderson, J. E., Smith, D. L., Chang, C. J., and McLaughlin, J. L. (1989) J. Nat. Prod. 52, 463-477.
- Humphrey, W., Dalke, A., and Schulten, K. (1996) J. Mol. Graph. 14, 33-38.
- Hunte, C., Screpanti, E., Venturi, M., Rimon, A., Padan, E., and Michel, H. (2005) *Nature 435*, 1197-1202.
- Ingledew, W. J., and Ohnishi, T. (1980) Biochem. J. 186, 111-117.
- Ingledew, W. J., and Poole, R. K. (1984) Microbiol. Rev. 48, 222-271.
- Ingledew, W. J., Reid, G. A., Poole, R. K., Blum, H., and Ohnishi, T. (1980) *FEBS Lett. 111*, 223-227.

- Jasaitis, A., Verkhovsky, M. I., Morgan, J. E., Verkhovskaya, M. L., and Wikström, M. (1999) *Biochemistry* 38, 2697-2706.
- Jaworowski, A., Campbell, H. D., Poulis, M. I., and Young, I. G. (1981a) *Biochemistry* 20, 2041-2047.
- Jaworowski, A., Mayo, G., Shaw, D. C., Campbell, H. D., and Young, I. G. (1981b) *Biochemistry* 20, 3621-3628.
- Joseph-Horne, T., Hollomon, D. W., and Wood, P. M. (2001) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1504*, 179-195.
- Junge, W., Auslander, W., McGeer, A. J., and Runge, T. (1979) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 546, 121-141.
- Kao, M. C., Di Bernardo, S., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2002) *Biochemistry 41*, 4377-4384.
- Kao, M. C., Di Bernardo, S., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2003) *Biochemistry* 42, 4534-4543.
- Kao, M. C., Di Bernardo, S., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Miyoshi, H., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2005a) *Biochemistry* 44, 3562-3571.
- Kao, M. C., Di Bernardo, S., Perego, M., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2004a) *J.Biol.Chem.* 279, 32360-32366.
- Kao, M. C., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2004b) Biochemistry 43, 3750-3755.
- Kao, M. C., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2005b) *Biochemistry* 44, 9545-9554.
- Kashani-Poor, N., Zwicker, K., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2001) J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24082-24087.
- Kerscher, S., Dröse, S., Zwicker, K., Zickermann, V., and Brandt, U. (2002) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1555, 83-91.
- Kervinen, M., Patsi, J., Finel, M., and Hassinen, I. E. (2004) Biochemistry 43, 773-781.
- Kikuno, R., and Miyata, T. (1985) FEBS Lett. 189, 85-88.
- Kita, K., Vibat, C. R., Meinhardt, S., Guest, J. R., and Gennis, R. B. (1989) *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 2672-2677.
- Kotlyar, A. B., Sled', V. D., Burbaev, D. S., Moroz, I. A., and Vinogradov, A. D. (1990) *FEBS Lett.* 264, 17-20.
- Krebs, W., Steuber, J., Gemperli, A. C., and Dimroth, P. (1999) *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 590-598.
- Krishnamoorthy, G., and Hinkle, P. C. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263, 17566-17575.
- Kurki, S., Zickermann, V., Kervinen, M., Hassinen, I., and Finel, M. (2000) *Biochemistry* 39, 13496-13502.
- Kussmaul, L., and Hirst, J. (2006) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 103, 7607-7612.
- Laurents, D. V., Huyghues-Despointes, B. M., Bruix, M., Thurlkill, R. L., Schell, D., Newsom, S., Grimsley, G. R., Shaw, K. L., Trevino, S., Rico, M., Briggs, J. M., Antosiewicz, J. M., Scholtz, J. M., and Pace, C. N. (2003) *J. Mol. Biol.* 325, 1077-1092.
- Lawford, H. G., and Garland, P. B. (1972a) Biochem.J. 129, 47-48.
- Lawford, H. G., and Garland, P. B. (1972b) Biochem.J. 130, 1029-1044.
- Lawford, H. G., and Garland, P. B. (1973) Biochem.J. 136, 711-720.
- Lebon, S., Chol, M., Benit, P., Mugnier, C., Chretien, D., Giurgea, I., Kern, I., Girardin, E., Hertz-Pannier, L., De Lonlay, P., Rotig, A., Rustin, P., Munnich, A. (2003) J. Med. Genet. 40, 896-899.

- Lebon, S., Minai, L., Chretien, D., Corcos, J., Serre, V., Kadhom, N., Steffann, J., Pauchard, J.Y., Munnich, A., Bonnefont, J.P., Rötig, A. (2007) *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 92, 104-108.
- Leif, H., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., Weiss, H., and Friedrich, T. (1995) *Eur. J. Biochem.* 230, 538-548.
- Leif, H., Weidner, U., Berger, A., Spehr, V., Braun, M., van Heek, P., Friedrich, T., Ohnishi, T., and Weiss, H. (1993) *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 21, 998-1001.
- Leung, K. H., and Hinkle, P. C. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 8467-8471.
- Loeffen, J., Smeitink, J., Triepels, R., Smeets, R., Schuelke, M., Sengers, R., Trijbels, F., Hamel, B., Mullaart, R., van den Heuvel, L. (1998) *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 63, 1598-1608.
- Loeffen, J.L., Smeitink, J.A., Trijbels, J.M., Janssen, A.J., Triepels, R.H., Sengers, R.C., Van den Heuvel, L.P. (2000) *Human Mutat.* 15, 123-134.
- Magnitsky, S., Toulokhonova, L., Yano, T., Sled', V. D., Hagerhall, C., Grivennikova, V. G., Burbaev, D. S., Vinogradov, A. D., and Ohnishi, T. (2002) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 34, 193-208.
- Mamedova, A. A., Holt, P. J., Carroll, J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2004) *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 23830-23836.
- Martín, M.A, Blázquez, A., Gutierrez-Solana, L.G., Fernández-Moreira, D., Briones, P., Andreu, A.L., Garesse, R., Campos, Y., Arenas, J. (2005) Arch. Neurol. 62, 659-661. Massey, V., and Palmer, G. (1962) J. Biol. Chem. 237, 2347–2358.
- Mathiesen, C., and Hagerhall, C. (2002) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1556, 121-132.
- Matsushita, K., Ohnishi, T., and Kaback, H. R. (1987) Biochemistry 26, 7732-7737.
- Matsushita, K., Patel, L., Gennis, R. B., and Kaback, H. R. (1983) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A 80, 4889-4893.
- Mayhew, S. G., Petering, D., Palmer, G., and Foust, G. P. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244, 2830–2834.
- McFarland, R., Kirby, D.M., Fowler, K.J., Ohtake, A., Ryan, M.T., Amor, D.J., Fletcher, J.M., Dixon, J.W., Collins, F.A., Turnbull, D.M., Taylor, R.W., Thorburn, D.R. (2004) *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 58-64.
- Meinhardt, S. W., Kula, T., Yagi, T., Lillich, T., and Ohnishi, T. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262, 9147-9153.
- Miller, M. J., and Gennis, R. B. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258, 9159-9165.
- Miller, M. J., and Gennis, R. B. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260, 14003-14008.
- Mirza, O., Guan, L., Verner, G., Iwata, S., and Kaback, H. R. (2006) *EMBO J.* 25, 1177-1183.
- Mitchell, P. (1961) Nature 191, 144-148.
- Mitchell, P., and Moyle, J. (1967) Biochem. J. 105, 1147-1162.
- Morgan, D. J., and Sazanov, L. A. (2008) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1777, 711-718.
- Moser, C. C., Farid, T. A., Chobot, S. E., and Dutton, P. L. (2006) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1757, 1096-1109.
- Murai, M., Ishihara, A., Nishioka, T., Yagi, T., and Miyoshi, H. (2007) *Biochemistry* 46, 6409-6416.
- Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Sakamoto, K., Matsuno-Yagi, A., Miyoshi, H., and Yagi, T. (2003) *Biochemistry* 42, 746-754.
- Nicholls, D. G. F. S. J. (1992)
- Ohnishi, T. (1998) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1364, 186-206.
- Ohnishi, T., Blum, H., Galante, Y. M., and Hatefi, Y. (1981) J. Biol. Chem. 256, 9216-9220.

- Ohnishi, T., Johnson, J. E., Jr., Yano, T., Lobrutto, R., and Widger, W. R. (2005) FEBS Lett. 579, 500-506.
- Ohnishi, T., and Salerno, J. C. (2005) FEBS Lett. 579, 4555-4561.
- Ohnishi, T., Sled', V. D., Yano, T., Yagi, T., Burbaev, D. S., and Vinogradov, A. D. (1998) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1365, 301-308.
- Okun, J. G., Lummen, P., and Brandt, U. (1999) J. Biol. Chem. 274, 2625-2630.
- Osyczka, A., Moser, C. C., and Dutton, P. L. (2005) Trends Biochem. Sci. 30, 176-182. Palmer, G. (1985) Biochem. Soc. Trans. 13, 548-560.
- Papa, S., Sardanelli, A. M., Scacco, S., Petruzzella, V., Technikova-Dobrova, Z., Vergari, R., and Signorile, A. (2002) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 34, 1-10.
- Peng, G., Fritzsch, G., Zickermann, V., Schägger, H., Mentele, R., Lottspeich, F., Bostina, M., Radermacher, M., Huber, R., Stetter, K. O., and Michel, H. (2003) Biochemistry 42, 3032-3039.
- Petruzzella, V., and Papa, S. (2002) Gene 286, 149-154.
- Pilkington, S. J., Skehel, J. M., Gennis, R. B., and Walker, J. E. (1991) Biochemistry 30, 2166-2175.
- Pohl, T., Bauer, T., Dorner, K., Stolpe, S., Sell, P., Zocher, G., and Friedrich, T. (2007) Biochemistry 46, 6588-6596.
- Pozzan, T., Di Virgilio, F., Bragadin, M., Miconi, V., and Azzone, G. F. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 76, 2123-2127.
- Prieur, I., Lunardi, J., and Dupuis, A. (2001) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1504, 173-178.
- Puustinen, A., Finel, M., Haltia, T., Gennis, R. B., and Wikström, M. (1991) Biochemistry 30, 3936-3942.
- Ragan, C. I., and Hinkle, P. C. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250, 8472-8476.
- Raha, S., and Robinson, B. H. (2000) Trends Biochem. Sci. 25, 502-508.
- Rao, N. A., Felton, S. P., Huennekens, F. M., and Mackler, B. (1963) J. Biol. Chem. 238, 449-455.
- Rasmussen, T., Scheide, D., Brors, B., Kintscher, L., Weiss, H., and Friedrich, T. (2001) Biochemistry 40, 6124-6131.
- Rigaud, J. L., Pitard, B., and Levy, D. (1995) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1231, 223-246.
- Robinson, B.H. (1998) Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1364, 271-286.
- Roth, R., and Hagerhall, C. (2001) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1504, 352-362.
- Salerno, J. C., Blum, H., and Ohnishi, T. (1979) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 547, 270-281.
- Salerno, J. C., Bolgiano, B., Poole, R. K., Gennis, R. B., and Ingledew, W. J. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265, 4364-4368.
- Saraste, M. (1999) Science 283, 1488-1493.
- Sazanov, L. A. (2007) Biochemistry 46, 2275-2288.
- Sazanov, L. A., Carroll, J., Holt, P., Toime, L., and Fearnley, I. M. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 19483-19491.
- Sazanov, L. A., and Hinchliffe, P. (2006) Science 311, 1430-1436.
- Sazanov, L. A., Peak-Chew, S. Y., Fearnley, I. M., and Walker, J. E. (2000) Biochemistry 39, 7229-7235.
- Sazanov, L. A., and Walker, J. E. (2000) J. Mol. Biol. 302, 455-464.
- Schuler, F., and Casida, J. E. (2001) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1506, 79-87.
- Schutz, C. N., and Warshel, A. (2001) Proteins 44, 400-417.
- Shimada, H., Grutzner, J. B., Kozlowski, J. F., and McLaughlin, J. L. (1998) Biochemistry 37, 854-866.
- Sled', V. D., Rudnitzky, N. I., Hatefi, Y., and Ohnishi, T. (1994) Biochemistry 33, 10069-10075.

- Sled', V. D., and Vinogradov, A. D. (1993) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1141, 262-268.
- Smith, J. C., Russ, P., Cooperman, B. S., and Chance, B. (1976) *Biochemistry 15*, 5094-5105.
- Suzuki, H., and King, T. E. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258, 352-358.
- Tocilescu, M. A., Fendel, U., Zwicker, K., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2007) *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 29514-29520.
- Tormo, J. R., and Estornell, E. (2000) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 381, 241-246.
- Torres-Bacete, J., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (2007) J. Biol. Chem. 282, 36914-36922.
- Triepels, R.H., Van Den Heuvel, L.P., Trijbels, J.M., Smeitink, J.A. (2001) Am. J. Med. Genet. 106, 37-45.
- Turrens, J. F. (2003) J. Physiol 552, 335-344.
- Ugalde, C., Hinttala, R., Timal, S., Smeets, R., Rodenburg, R.J., Uusimaa, J., van Heuvel, L.P., Nijtmans, L.G., Majamaa, K., Smeitink, J.A. (2007) *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 90, 10-4.
- Uhlmann, M., and Friedrich, T. (2005) Biochemistry 44, 1653-1658.
- Van Belzen, R., Kotlyar, A. B., Moon, N., Dunham, W. R., and Albracht, S. P. (1997) *Biochemistry 36*, 886-893.
- Van den Heuvel L., Ruitenbeek, W., Smeets, R., Gelman-Kohan, Z., Elpeleg, O., Loeffen, J., Trijbels, F., Mariman, E., de Bruijn, D., Smeitink, J. (1998) Am. J. Hum. Genet. 62, 262-268.
- Vinogradov, A. D. (1998) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1364, 169-185.
- Vinogradov, A. D., Sled', V. D., Burbaev, D. S., Grivennikova, V. G., Moroz, I. A., and Ohnishi, T. (1995) *FEBS Lett.* 370, 83-87.
- Volbeda, A., Charon, M. H., Piras, C., Hatchikian, E. C., Frey, M., and Fontecilla-Camps, J. C. (1995) *Nature* 373, 580-587.
- Walker, J. E., and Dickson, V. K. (2006) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 286-296.
- Wang, D. C., Meinhardt, S. W., Sackmann, U., Weiss, H., and Ohnishi, T. (1991) Eur. J. Biochem. 197, 257-264.
- Weidner, U., Geier, S., Ptock, A., Friedrich, T., Leif, H., and Weiss, H. (1993) J. Mol. Biol. 233, 109-122.
- Weiss, H., Friedrich, T., Hofhaus, G., and Preis, D. (1991) European Journal of Biochemistry 197, 563-576.
- Wikström, M. (1984a) Nature 308, 558-560.
- Wikström, M. (1984b) FEBS Lett. 169, 300-304.
- Wikström, M., and Verkhovsky, M. I. (2006) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 1047-1051.
- Xu, X., Matsuno-Yagi, A., and Yagi, T. (1993) Biochemistry 32, 968-981.
- Yagi, T. (1986) Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 250, 302-311.
- Yagi, T., and Matsuno-Yagi, A. (2003) Biochemistry 42, 2266-2274.
- Yagi, T., Yano, T., Di Bernardo, S., and Matsuno-Yagi, A. (1998) *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 1364, 125-133.
- Yagi, T., Yano, T., and Matsuno-Yagi, A. (1993) J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 25, 339-345.
- Yano, T., Chu, S. S., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Yagi, T. (1997) J. Biol. Chem. 272, 4201-4211.
- Yano, T., Dunham, W. R., and Ohnishi, T. (2005) Biochemistry 44, 1744-1754.
- Yano, T., Magnitsky, S., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Yagi, T. (1999) J. Biol. Chem. 274, 28598-28605.
- Yano, T., Sklar, J., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Takahashi, Y., Yagi, T., and Ohnishi, T. (2003) J. Biol. Chem. 278, 15514-15522.

Yano, T., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Yagi, T. (1996) J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5907-5913.

- Yano, T., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Yagi, T. (1994a) Biochemistry 33, 494-499.
- Yano, T., Sled', V. D., Ohnishi, T., and Yagi, T. (1994b) FEBS Lett. 354, 160-164.
- Yano, T., Yagi, T., Sled', V. D., and Ohnishi, T. (1995) *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 18264-18270.
- Zaslavsky, D., and Gennis, R. B. (2000) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1458, 164-179.
- Zickermann, V., Bostina, M., Hunte, C., Ruiz, T., Radermacher, M., and Brandt, U. (2003) *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 29072-29078.
- Zickermann, V., Kurki, S., Kervinen, M., Hassinen, I., and Finel, M. (2000) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1459, 61-68.
- Zu, Y., Di Bernardo, S., Yagi, T., and Hirst, J. (2002) Biochemistry 41, 10056-10069.
- Zu, Y., Shannon, R. J., and Hirst, J. (2003) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125, 6020-6021.
- Zwicker, K., Galkin, A., Dröse, S., Grgic, L., Kerscher, S., and Brandt, U. (2006) *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 23013-23017.